
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2014-0182
	Union Gas Limited

	VOLUME:

DATE:


	Technical Conference
May 21, 2015
	


EB-2014-0182
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

Union Gas Limited
Application for leave to construct a natural gas pipeline and ancillary facilities in the Town of Milton and the Town of Oakville and for approval to recover the cost consequences of the development of the proposed Burlington Oakville Project.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Thursday, May 21st, 2015,

commencing at 9:31 a.m.
--------------------

TECHNICAL CONFERENCE
--------------------
MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

ZORA CZRNOJACKI
Board Staff

CHARLES KEIZER
Union Gas Limited
MARK KITCHEN

VANESSA INNIS

DWAYNE QUINN
Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers (OGVG)

JOHN WOLNIK
Association of Power Producers of Ontario (APPrO)

TOM BRETT
Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA)

EDEN ALEXANDER
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

1--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.


1Appearances


2UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1


C. Shorts, M. Isherwood, J. Redford, D. Hockin,


M. George, S. Khoshaien
4Presentation by Mr. Isherwood


9Questions by Mr. Brett


33Questions by Ms. Alexander


54--- Recess at 10:56 a.m.


54--- On resuming at 11:05 a.m.


56Questions by Mr. Wolnik


90Questions by Mr. Quinn


106--- Luncheon recess at 12:45 p.m.


106--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.


149--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:29 p.m.




No EXHIBITS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING.

56UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN IDEA OF WHEN DISCUSSIONS BEGAN ON OBTAINING EASEMENTS.


59UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE AGE OF THE 20-INCH LINE BETWEEN BURLINGTON GATE AND BRONTE GATE.


76UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO EXPLAIN WHY 40 PER CENT of the $156.8-MILLION ON LINE 3, ATTACHMENT 3 OF APPRO 5 IS DIFFERENT THAN THE SUM OF LINES 12 AND 13 OF ATTACHMENT 1, PAGE 1 OF THE SAME IR.


109UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO PROVIDE WHAT THE CONTRACTED PRESSURES AND THE MAXIMUM OPERATING PRESSURE WERE.






Thursday, May 21, 2015

--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  Why don't we get started.


This is the technical conference for EB-2014-0182, as set out in the Board's Procedural Order No. 3.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.  With me today is Zora Crnojacki.


As all of you know, but I'll repeat this just in case, we are members of Board Staff, we are not Board panel members, so to the extent there are any disagreements about what's in scope or the adequacy of answers, I can't help you except to encourage you to talk and reach some resolution, but of course Zora nor I can make any rulings of any type.


I understand Mr. Keizer has some preliminary comments, but before we do that, why don't we just go around the room and take appearances.

Appearances:

MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer, counsel on behalf of Union Gas Limited.  With me is Mr. Mark Kitchen and Ms. Vanessa Innis.


MR. BRETT:  Tom Brett, counsel for the Building Owners and Managers Association.


MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn on half of OGVG.


MS. ALEXANDER:  Eden Alexander on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. WOLNIK:  John Wolnik, representing APPrO.


MR. MILLAR:  Anyone else to give an appearance?  I'm sorry.


MS. KYRIAZIS:  Joanna Kyriazis, also on behalf of APPrO.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Okay.  Not seeing anyone else, Mr. Keizer, did you want to introduce your panel and make your preliminary comments?

UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1

Chris Shorts


Mark Isherwood


Jim Redford


Dave Hockin


Michelle George

Shawn Khoshaien

MR. KEIZER:  Thanks, Mr. Millar.


So with the panel introductions maybe I'll ask those on the panel to introduce themselves by their name and title, starting with the panellist closest to me.


MR. SHORTS:  Chris Shorts, director of gas supply.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mark Isherwood, vice-president of business development.


MR. REDFORD:  Jim Redford, director, business development and upstream regulation.


MR. HOCKIN:  Dave Hockin, manager of strategic development.


MS. GEORGE:  Michelle George, director of major projects.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, panel.  Before we begin, I guess a couple of things.  One, we had tried to -- we hopefully will within the next few minutes be able to put up on the easel that's here in the hearing room a picture of the pipeline system that's in question so that if people have questions or the witnesses need to point to it we'll be able to do that, but in the meantime we also have colour copies of that as well, and the image actually comes from the evidence.


It is Exhibit B-OGVG-1, attachment 1, and we have colour copies of that map available which we are now handing out, so that may help people in their questioning if they have to refer to a particular location within the pipeline system.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  I understand this is already on the evidence so we don't need to --


MR. KEIZER:  No, it is already -- it's from the actual pre-filed.  I think it is actually from -- obviously from an interrogatory from OGVG.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MR. KEIZER:  And that's marked in the upper right-hand corner of the paper.


I guess as well a couple of preliminary things before we begin.  I think to be of assistance with respect to today's proceedings, one, I think it would be helpful, Mr. Isherwood is just going to make a couple of preliminary comments about some aspects related to the evidence, and then also we'll have a comment from Mr. Shorts about a matter of clarification.  So if I could ask Mr. Isherwood...

Presentation by Mr. Isherwood:

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Good morning, everybody.


Union Gas is proposing 12 kilometres of NPS-20 pipe starting at Union's new Parkway West site and terminating at the Bronte station, a key distribution station serving Burlington and Oakville.  It's best illustrated in the map that was just handed out and hopefully on a storyboard here shortly.


Since 2011 Union has been servicing this market through a mix of our own assets and through third-party services.  Specifically, volumes from our Dawn to Parkway system flow into the market area using two lines that we own on the Milton line and the Parkway line --


THE REPORTER:  Slow down, please.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.  Sorry.  Also shown on the map.


Short-haul capacity on TCPL from Dawn and Parkway is also used and firm exchanges from a secondary market supplier are also used.


Union first began to look into this project in and around 2012.  It has changed and evolved as we studied both how we serve the market today as well as how that market will continue to grow.


The project as it is filed is designed to allow Union to supply 100 percent of the gas it needs using both the two existing laterals and the new Burlington Oakville pipeline it needs to load growth in 2016 and for more than 40 years of growth.


The evidence in IR answers assume that TCPL can provide 100 percent of the service, replacing the secondary market exchanges, and also providing for future growth.


We have looked at five commercial alternatives and compared each to the proposed project.  For the economic test we use an NPV analysis that showed that the proposed project has an NPV benefit of 48.7 million relative to the best commercial alternative, and that alternative was using TCPL services to fill the current need, replacement of the exchange, and plus future growth, all through TCPL services.


I should mention that NPV analysis in this application is different than most -- most NPV analysis you normally see.  In this case, NPV is a cost analysis, rather than a revenue analysis, so given that it is a cost analysis and it is a cost analysis of all the alternatives over 40 years, the NPV is actually a negative number, and in this case the smaller the number the better, so the smaller number means less cost over the 40-year period, so it is a little bit different.  Just keep that in the back of your mind as we talk about NPV today.


We've also compared the cost to carry the project on an annual basis.  The year 2018 was chosen, given that it was the highest cost to carry for the proposed project during the current IRM period.


In that one-year period, the proposed project saved ratepayers $2.9 million relative to the best commercial option.  It is interesting to note that the 2.9 million is a worst-case scenario.  As time goes on incremental volumes are added to the same pipe, which makes the unit cost to ship a bit lower as we add more and more volume to it.


As well, over time, the cost to carry the project decreases as the pipeline depreciates.  Then the impact of these two trends is that by year 20 the $2.9 million benefit to ratepayers actually increases to 6.9 million by 2035.


In all cases the project as proposed provides an economic advantage for our ratepayers.  The project also brings four other significant benefits for our ratepayers.


First, the Burlington Oakville-Milton area is the fastest growing area within our franchise, and I believe it is also the fastest growing area within Canada.  Building the pipeline provides a new spine to support future growth. Laterals can be built from the spine to support this growth.  And for example, we expect to be building a lateral as early as the next five or six years.


Number two, building the project today locks in the capital cost of serving this community in 2016 dollars.  It provides rate stability with declining cost to carry the pipeline over the life of the project.


Third, the pipeline project provides for -- sorry, the pipeline project provides for full 40-plus years of growth in the area, and as we add more volume to this pipeline, as I mentioned, the cost per gJ shipped actually to clients.


And lastly, the growth in the Burlington Oakville area is urban growth.  As you know, even with the project we initially looked at it was running down to Trafalgar Road.  The current path we are using is actually down the 9th Line.  We had a shift from Trafalgar to 9th Line because of urban growth.


The path down 9th Line is available today.  It may not be in the future.  We need to build a pipeline now to ensure that we can serve this market in the future.


So when we compare the Burlington Oakville pipeline project to purchasing and service there are definitely some contrasts.  I just mentioned two.


The new pipeline provides all the capacity we need for 40-plus years.  Under a purchasing service option we would definitely buy the service we need in year one, but we need to add to that in each and every year over the 40-year life of the project.


As we saw back in 2011, we actually had restrictions on getting access to the service because the pipeline had been sold out, so the one main advantage is we actually lock in the growth for the next 40 years.


The second contrast is really around the cost to ratepayers.  The new pipeline proposal results in lower annual cost at the start, in year one, and that benefit actually increases over time.


For a purchase service, as the market continues to grow, we would need to continue to buy additional services, which makes that option more expensive as the years go on, so I am hoping that those comments help clarify some aspects of our evidence, and I'll turn it over to Mr. Shorts to clarify the one area.


MR. SHORTS:  Thanks, Mark.  In regards to the evidence throughout, both the evidence and Union's IR responses, Union states that the capacity to move the volumes from Parkway to the Union CDA has been either unavailable or unavailable through both existing capacity open seasons and new capacity open seasons.


Now, just to be clear, this means that in all cases the TransCanada existing capacity open seasons, there has been no capacity available starting in 2012, and that's the case as well today.


When you look at the new capacity open seasons, starting in 2012, and that would be for service starting in 2014, Parkway to Union CDA was not available at that point in time.


In the case of the new capacity open seasons in 2013, 2014, and 2015 for service that would start in either '15, '16, or '17, we had already had a project that for all the reasons Mr. Isherwood had just outlined, including the positive economic benefits, was already well in progress.


Starting in the summer of 2013, we had already been deeply engaged with TransCanada, Enbridge, Gaz Metro, on the settlement agreement discussions, and it was during that discussion that the Burlington Oakville pipeline project was well-ingrained and understood by all the parties.


Post the settlement agreement approval, TCPL should be able to provide this service, and we have certainly assumed they would be able to provide this service as a result of that.  And throughout the evidence we have assumed that TransCanada can provide the service, and that has been assumed within the economic analysis.


MR. KEIZER:  I think that is the end of the preliminary matters that we had intended, so without further ado the panel is available for questioning.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.


Mr. Brett, I believe you were going to go first.

Questions by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I am.  My -- good morning, panel.  My questions will be mainly based on the IRs that we asked, but I have one or two general questions which I will ask now and then at the end, and I have a question or two arising out of Mr. Isherwood's remarks.


On the first general question, at Exhibit A, tab 3, page 1, beginning of your evidence, "the project summary", when you talk about the current situation, how you serve the Burlington Oakville system, you say:

"The transportation services on the TransCanada main line are contracted either directly with TransCanada or in the secondary market.  Approximately 25 percent of the design day demand is supplied by deliveries from Union's pipelines.  The remaining 75 percent of the design day demand is supplied with contracted transportation services, of which approximately 40 percent is contracted transportation services acquired through the secondary market."

So my first question is:  The 40 percent -- just to make sure I understand how these numbers line up, the 40 percent that you refer to, is that 40 percent of the 75 percent, or is that 40 percent of 100 percent?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's 40 percent of 100 percent, so that would imply 25 percent from our own pipeline --


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- 40 percent from a third-party marketer for an exchange --


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- and then I believe 35 is based on TCPL services --


MR. BRETT:  From the direct contracts with TransCanada.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And then -- now, we have, I think, listed under one of our interrogatory responses the contracts that are direct contracts with TransCanada, and I'll come back to this, but am I right in recollecting one of the contracts with TransCanada is for capacity that TransCanada has taken from Union, like, on the Dawn-Parkway system?  In other words, it is with TransCanada but TransCanada's contracted with you.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They may or may not, as TCPL uses an integrated system.  So as you know, it has the capacity, goes from Dawn -- we always called it around the horn, but it goes back into Great Lakes.  So they have a half a BCF a day of capacity that goes from Dawn, through Michigan, back into Ontario, and then back to Parkway, so we never know whether it's going on that path or directly on our path.  It could be either one.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, so you don't specify --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  All we know, we give them --


MR. BRETT:  -- whether or not you are using your own capacity.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We give them gas at Dawn, they give us gas back at the CDA.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  Now, with respect to the 40 percent that is contracted with third parties, what you mean there is it is contracted -- it is a secondary market.  So it is not contracted directly with TransCanada, it is directed with parties that themselves hold capacity in TransCanada; is that right?


MR. SHORTS:  It would be parties that would contract with TransCanada.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  Now, how many -- I had gotten the impression reading the -- I want to focus on this secondary market for a moment.  I got the impression reading your evidence that there was just one contract for the entire amount.  Is that true, or are there more -- is there more than one contract?  And how many contracts are there, if more than one?


MR. SHORTS:  We have currently one secondary market contract for 60,000, and we had another temporary -- or exchange contract for 8,000, but that's been replaced -- that capacity is now permanently assigned to us.  So there was two, but now there's one.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And that 60,000 then represents the 40 percent of the --


MR. SHORTS:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  -- demand day requirement --


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  -- design day requirement for the Oakville system.


Now, just on that -- so you mentioned in your presentation, I think, Mr. Isherwood, a firm exchange, so this contract that you have for 60,000, is this -- what is the nature of this?  You say an exchange.  How is the exchange worked, basically?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  How the exchange works is we provide this customer with gas at Parkway, and that customer then redelivers gas to us in the Union CDA.  They hold a firm contract with TransCanada for deliveries to the Union CDA.


MR. BRETT:  I see.


MR. SHORTS:  So they are able to provide that service.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Okay, and that's the contract that you say they will not -- their contract that they hold with the Union CDA, I think you said they will not renew?  Or let me put it another way.  I gather the plan is -- and I will come to this in a bit, but the plan is that the Union CDA will pass out of existence November 1st, 2016 and you will have three different DDAs replacing it.


Now, am I right that that contract that you currently -- the secondary market contract that you currently have, you're saying that won't be possible beyond November 1st of '16 because the party -- the counter-party that you are now contracting with will not -- will in your view, I guess, will no longer hold a contract to either of -- either the -- well, I guess the Union -- it will be the Union ECDA; is that right?


MR. SHORTS:  So as part of this whole process, the split of the three into the three delivery areas, people had to provide that election back in January, and we provided that election, so our new -- our CDA volumes we elected to go to the new ECDA --


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. SHORT:  -- and this customer who we get the service from today elected their volumes effective November 1, '16 to go at Parkway rather than at Union --


MR. BRETT:  So they made that election already and when did they make that -- when did you and they make those elections?


MR. SHORTS:  Those were early January.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, just as an aside, could you tell me what would the -- will the capacity utilization of your -- of the pipeline you propose to build, what will it be initially in the first year after completion?


MS. GEORGE:  In the first year that it's built it will be about half utilized --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.


MS. GEORGE:  -- capacity will be used.


MR. BRETT:  And then how will that capacity increase approximately each year, in terms of a percentage?  Would it go up by one-and-a-half percent, something of that order each year?  I mean on average.  I realize it won't be perfectly smooth, but...

MS. GEORGE:  The capacity will be about two-thirds used by 2035, and the capacity will increase by the amount that we forecasted each year.

MR. BRETT:  And that's what the amount is in evidence.  And that's the, what -- what is that in -- what would that be in 235?  I just missed that number, 2035, two-thirds used would be equivalent to how much?  How many units?

MS. GEORGE:  About 222 TJs a day.  And the capacity is --


MR. BRETT:  T as in Thomas?

MS. GEORGE:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.

MS. GEORGE:  And the capacity is 317 TJs a day.

MR. BRETT:  The capacity is 317 TJs per day.  Okay.  Thank you.

I'll go to the BOMA IRs here for a moment.  Now, okay.  I have questions on the tolls, but I think I'll come back to that, because I have a later IR on the tolls, so I may as well keep them all together, but perhaps I could ask a preliminary question on this.

In BOMA 2 I asked for some -- your cost comparisons, and I don't want to get into the comparisons as such.  I'm sure others will do that.

My question is sort of more basic.  You cite tolls there for the various routes.  Now, are those -- those are the tolls currently in effect that -- on TransCanada that were put into effect 1 January 2015; is that right?

MR. REDFORD:  Those tolls are the settlement tolls that were filed as part of --


MR. BRETT:  Right.  They were agreed in the settlement, and when did they become effective?

MR. REDFORD:  January 1st of 2015.  And --


MR. BRETT:  Is TransCanada proposing new tolls to effectively replace those so-called -- and when do the -- you are nodding; so they are, eh?

MR. REDFORD:  They are, yes.

MR. BRETT:  When do those tolls come into effect?

MR. REDFORD:  So the RH-001 2014 decision from the NEB had the settlement tolls as filed interim effect from January 1st of '015 to March 31st of 2015.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  TransCanada was to provide a compliance filing --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  -- which is their standard practice at the NEB.  They have done that, and --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  -- those tolls would take place once they are accepted by the Board after March 31st, 2015.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And that compliance filing is now before the Board, the NEB?

MR. REDFORD:  It is.  They filed that at the end of March.

MR. BRETT:  And how do those tolls compare to the current tolls?  Are they the same?


MR. REDFORD:  So the short-haul tolls in the eastern Ontario triangle under the settlement were about 152 percent higher than the RH3-2011 tolls, which was a previous NEB decision.  The compliance tolls in the EOT are about 155 percent, so they are slightly higher.

MR. BRETT:  So they are very close is what you're saying.

MR. REDFORD:  They are close, yeah.  The other thing that is not included in this toll is the abandonment surcharge.  It is not included as part of this daily toll.  We didn't know what it was when we filed.

MR. BRETT:  And that's been decided by the NEB recently.

MR. REDFORD:  It has.

MR. BRETT:  But that's in some of your other information.  It's not in this, but --


MR. REDFORD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, I have a couple of questions on 4-BOMA-4, including on -- I guess starting with A.

Now, I gather -- as you say here in response to A, we don't yet have a map that delineates the boundaries of the newly created zones.  Why is that?  Why is it not possible to have a map at this point?

MR. REDFORD:  TransCanada just hasn't produced a map showing those zones.  What do we do know is that Bronte and Burlington are both in the Union ECDA, and we do know that Hamilton gate and what we call Kirkwall Dominion and what TransCanada calls Nanticoke is in the amended CDA, and we do know that Parkway belt is now its own delivery.

MR. BRETT:  And they've told you that, or they've told you -- I guess that's in the settlement agreement, is it?

MR. REDFORD:  Correct, and that was in their RH1-2014 filing as well that was approved by the NEB.

MR. BRETT:  That being this filing -- no, sorry, that being the NEB filing.

MR. REDFORD:  The NEB filing.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  Okay, now, just going on from that, I guess the question is, the idea of splitting the existing zone into three or two zones and then a single point, how did that arise?  Was that a TransCanada idea or a Union idea or...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It came up through the settlement discussions, actually, and when we started talking about the Burlington Oakville pipeline within the settlement discussions, that has a result of minimizing or reducing the amount of volume that TCPL is delivering on Union's behalf into the CDA, so it becomes a very small part of the CDA.  And for them to schedule their system and to plan their system and to line-pack all the things that you do on a day-to-day basis, for TCPL it is going to be a lot easier to have three different zones.

They really do -- delivery areas, I guess is a better word.  They really do get served differently, so for example, the Hamilton gate 3 and the Kirkwall Dominion line come off of the whole Kirkwall system --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- which is quite different and distinct from the domestic line coming off of Parkway, which again is very different and distinct from Parkway itself.

Parkway itself is a very large station, you know, by -- I think by '16, '17 it will be almost 4 BCF a day of capacity going through Parkway, whereas Bronte and Burlington gate will be like 11 TJs or something, a very small number.  And Hamilton, the amended CDA would be, you know, 100 or 200 a day, so the volume differences are quite distinct and quite dramatic.

MR. BRETT:  But the two -- fair enough.  The two things are linked.  In other words, in the settlement agreement -- this is an attachment to the answer to BOMA 4 -- the settlement agreement says:

"Subject to Union receiving regulatory approval to construct its proposed Burlington Oakville pipeline."

This is section 4.1.5:

"TransCanada expects that effective November 1, 2016 the Union CDA will be modified by removing the Parkway, Union, Bronte, and Burlington meter stations from the CDA."

And they go on to say there'll be a new station created or a new zone -- new DDA created.  There will be two new EDAs created and then there will be this Parkway belt.

So just on that first, when they say Union Parkway belt, what does that mean, in terms -- that delivery area is to a single point, is it?  It's...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is just one point.  It is where two pipes actually meet.  The Union Gas system, the TransCanada pipe system meet at Parkway belt.

MR. BRETT:  And this would be Parkway and West Parkway -- Parkway West --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is a good point.  Actually two metered stations, opposite sides of the road, but it is essentially operating as one point.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And so you may have...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But your point is an important one.  It is all linked back to the Burlington Oakville project going ahead, so as part of that going ahead there were other things happening within the settlement agreement.  And one of them was the division of CDA into the three different -- one point and two delivery areas.

MR. BRETT:  Now, I think the phrase that was used at some point in the evidence is that TransCanada was facilitating the construction of the line.  If I look at B, BOMA 4B, in the second paragraph there, you talk about the creation of the three DDAs from the one, and you say:

"This will allow for better scheduling on the TransCanada system."

Could you explain what that means?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is really just what I had said earlier on, I guess, in terms of, if you look at the volumes going through those three areas, the point of Parkway relative to the amended CDA and the ECDA, they are quite different volumes, and they are served by different parts of the system.  They are almost independent of each other.

So if I look at something like the EDA and TransCanada, which is up towards Kingston and Cornwall, DDA covers a fairly large piece of geography, and the volumes are all consistently going down the pipe to serve that whole market area.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  When you look at how TCPL schedules volumes to get to, say, the Bronte station, compared to Hamilton gate 3 versus Parkway, it is much different.  It is not a consistent system.  There are three different ways of getting to those three different areas.

So for TCPL it is going to be much simpler to have it broken into the three.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, I'm going to come back to the use of the existing system in a moment, but let me pass on then -- you talk about -- in the same paragraph you talk about reduction and operational risks.

What -- how do you see that?  Could you elaborate?  And why does that reduce operational risks?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll give you a good example.  So if it was the old CDA, as an example, where Parkway and Bronte and Burlington and Hamilton were all on the same CDA --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- if we nominated, I don't know, 4 BCF a day as our nomination for tomorrow, TCPL wouldn't have any idea how much of that was going to Parkway, versus Bronte, versus Burlington, versus Hamilton gate 3.  By breaking into three, it becomes discrete enough, in three different buckets, if you want.  We now nominate that 4 BCF into three buckets, and so they know exactly how much they need to send to us on the ECDA, they know exactly how much they need to send to us on the amended CDA, and then Parkway is going to be the giant here.  It is always going to be the largest of the three by a lot.

MR. BRETT:  Now, in the case of the ECDA, you -- will you be taking gas -- you will be servicing the ECDA from your own facilities.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  What we've agreed to do is keep a very small volume flowing on the ECDA, so --


MR. BRETT:  From TransCanada?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  From TransCanada.  We've agreed to flow 11 TJs a day, which is very small compared to the overall market of 200.  And the reason for that is to keep those two stations flowing and open.  TCPL had initially thought that if we weren't flowing any gas through their system they would take those stations out and decommission them.

And just from a redundancy point of view, security supply point of view, they already exist, so there is value to us to having those stations being available in case of an emergency.

MR. BRETT:  You mean they would take the initiative to decommission them if --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, if they weren't using them and you weren't paying for them, then they wouldn't want to keep them.  So we agreed to flow a small volume, just a notional volume, to maintain that redundancy.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, now, the -- from the point of view of -- we may have touched on this earlier, but from the point of view of costs, you have in the evidence, and you may have it in -- you may have it in BOMA 2 -- it looks to me like the tolls for these new -- these three new DDAs have been calculated, have they, or estimated by TransCanada, even though they haven't been created yet?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, they have tolls.

MR. BRETT:  They have tolls.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And those are expected to -- I mean, those are interim tolls that will come into existence whenever these -- whenever this actual -- let me put it this way:  Have these three DDAs actually been created?  My understanding is they're not yet created.

MR. SHORTS:  They won't be.  As Mr. Isherwood said, they won't be created until Burlington Oakville pipeline is built, and then they will be created and in service.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  So you put -- they put tolls together.

MR. SHORTS:  In anticipation of that.

MR. BRETT:  And how do those tolls relate to the existing toll to the CDA in each case?  Are they -- in each case, can you just give me the relevant numbers?

MR. SHORTS:  They're all very close.  I don't have the numbers.  Don't have the numbers handy, but they are all very, very close between the ECDA, the amended CDA --


MR. BRETT:  All right.  In any event, they are in the evidence here, or are they?  I see in BOMA 2 you have the ECDA -- you have a -- well, actually, yeah, you do have a toll here.  You have a Union-Parkway, Union ECDA toll, 13 cents, it looks like, a gigajoule.

MR. SHORTS:  Yeah, it shows as 13.9 cents, and as Mr. Redford said, that doesn't include the abandonment surcharges --


MR. BRETT:  Yeah, but how does that -- how does that -- what is the current toll from Union-Parkway to Union CDA?
MR. ISHERWOOD:  And actually, it would be -- the toll would be from Kirkwall, probably.  The more likely path is Kirkwall to Dominion CDA.  It's just closer to Hamilton gate and Nanticoke station from  Kirkwall.

So if we are delivering volumes to TCPL to go to the amended CDA, it would be at Kirkwall, and they are just looking for the rate.  I don't have it in front of me.

MR. BRETT:  No, sorry, what I meant was -- that's not what I meant.  Thank you for that.  I understand, I think, what you're saying there, but -- because the amended CDA is the sort of southern portion with the two gate stations, but, no, I meant to the existing CDA.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Oh, existing CDA.

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, if you go to BOMA 5, page 2 --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  -- we are showing the toll -- the FT toll and the daily equivalent, which does include the abandonment surcharge, and as you can see, all of those tolls are fairly close to one another.

MR. BRETT:  Could you just...

MR. SHORTS:  B, BOMA 5, page 2 of 2.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, okay.  This is my own...  Yeah, I see, okay, so I did look at this earlier, so your -- so your ECDA toll is a little bit lower than your current CDA toll.

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, the -- so you are not -- the actual -- just going back over this again briefly, your actual -- the dividing up of the zone isn't cost-driven in any sense.  It's not --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not at all.  It is very driven by operational needs.

MR. BRETT:  Mm-hmm.  Okay.  Now, just a couple of questions on the kind of the current situation, and the TCPL domestic line.  I'm right in saying that your -- the -- the -- as you pointed out in your evidence, the existing CDA is served in different ways, but the eastern portion of it, the Burlington Oakville system portion, is -- other than the 54 TJs, I guess, that you serve from your own facilities, the balance is served from the domestic line; is that right?  This TransCanada domestic line?  Give or take a couple of --


MR. REDFORD:  So -- yeah, let me split up the delivery points.  So the Bronte gate and Burlington gate stations are served from the domestic line.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  And in fact, TransCanada sometimes calls that the Hamilton line.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  So you will hear both.  Kirkwall Dominion is served off of the Niagara export line.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. REDFORD:  And Hamilton gate 3 has the ability to be served from either the domestic line or the Niagara export line, and the big difference between those two TransCanada lines and domestic line, they both run out of Niagara.  The domestic line runs at a lower pressure, about 300 pounds or so lower than the export line, so they are two different pressure systems.

MR. BRETT:  Right, now, just as an aside, when you speak -- you speak frequently in here of the Burlington Oakville system.  Is that -- should we understand that -- because you attach numbers to that, contract demand and design date demand and so on.

Should we understand that to be the municipalities of Burlington and Oakville, or is there a difference?  In other words, there's some reference in the evidence to supplying a small amount of gas to Milton, the southern part of Milton.

Now -- so I want to understand, when you speak and provide us numbers for the Burlington Oakville system, are you including any volumes that go to Milton there?  How does that work?  And I guess as part of that, would your new line -- if you build it, would your new line be serving Milton or parts of Milton as well as Burlington Oakville?

MS. GEORGE:  So we describe in detail how we serve the existing Burlington Oakville system in tab 4 of our evidence.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MS. GEORGE:  But if you look at the map that we handed out --


MR. BRETT:  This is the coloured one you just handed out?

MS. GEORGE:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.

MS. GEORGE:  Which is also OG -- it's attachment 1 of OGVG --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MS. GEORGE:  The yellow area shows where we will be servicing in the future, and if you look at all the green piping --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MS. GEORGE:  -- that's what's served, existing served, so right now Burlington and Oakville are served from the Burlington Oakville system.  In the future we'll be serving the southern portion of Milton, the town of Milton, the yellow part there, from this pipeline --


MR. BRETT:  Are the municipal boundaries on this map here, are they the purple lines?

MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So, let's see here.  All right.  So that big yellow block on the right-hand side, that's actually part of Milton; is that the idea?

MS. GEORGE:  So the Milton boundary, it goes sort of down right through the middle of the yellow block on the --


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I see, yeah, but above that there is quite a bit of yellow, and that's the area of Milton that you're serving?

MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  So it's not where the green -- it's not the green part around the Milton gate, it's not that part.

MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.  The green part around Milton gate is served by Milton gate.

MR. BRETT:  It's served by a different line.

MS. GEORGE:  That's right.

MR. BRETT:  And it wouldn't be served by your new line.

MS. GEORGE:  That's right.

Okay.  Now, just a couple of questions on the domestic line or the Hamilton line and how that's working.  At the moment it's -- at the moment, as I understand it, as you just said, the third line -- the Burlington gate and the Bronte gate are served off the domestic line; correct?  And that gas -- the domestic line starts at Parkway; is that fair?  And runs to the border?  Is that how you define it?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, we go from Niagara up through to Parkway.

MR. BRETT:  And the gas that's being used now, I mean, I'm talking about what's actually happening on the ground here -- the gas that's being used to serve that area, I take it it's -- the flow is from Parkway south and west; right?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, I think it could be both directions.  I think it depends on what the flows are on the day on TransCanada's system.

MR. BRETT:  So in other words you are saying that the domestic line is -- well, it is obviously -- it is bi-directional; is that what you are telling me?

MR. REDFORD:  It is.  One of the challenges within the TransCanada system is the -- from the -- where the domestic line branches off from the export line over to the Burlington gate station.

That pipeline is at a lower pressure than the piece from Parkway to Burlington, so Parkway to Burlington runs at approximately 6,454 KPA.  From Burlington gate back towards the Niagara export line it runs at about 4,480 KPA, so there is quite a pressure, there is about a 300-pound pressure difference between these two stations --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  What's the capacity of that line, approximately?

MR. REDFORD:  I don't know.

MR. BRETT:  I think that's in evidence in an earlier case, but I guess what I'm -- I am just trying to get a sense of how these pieces fit together.

Enbridge has taken 200 TJs a day of service from Niagara, and so that would be a -- does that impact in any way your capacity to use that line to serve your needs?

MR. REDFORD:  I think what it does do is it adds to the operational challenges and the scheduling challenges that Mark talked about, because now Enbridge is looking specifically for the path from Niagara through the domestic line into Parkway, into the new Parkway Enbridge CDA delivery point.  They are specifically looking for that path, because --


MR. BRETT:  They've contracted for it, haven't they?

MR. REDFORD:  They have, and they're looking for that path to provide diversity and supply.  And in this case --


MR. BRETT:  My understanding is -- I don't have the exact number, but I thought that the capacity of the domestic line was quite large.  Like, you have no idea what it is?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, we know there is 200 going from Niagara through to the Parkway Enbridge CDA.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.

MR. REDFORD:  I'm not sure what the --


MR. BRETT:  How much is going from Parkway down to your eastern area, to your Burlington and third line, approximately?

MR. REDFORD:  Approximately, on a design date we would move today about 140, 140 to 150 TJs.

MR. BRETT:  And does any go any further than that?  Does it ever go down into the Hamilton area?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, again, that would be up to TransCanada and how their system is operating on that day.  It's possible.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  My understanding is TCPL uses that line to serve Grimsby and St. Catharines and those type of places, so it is used domestically along the Niagara peninsula as well.  But whether that supply comes in from Niagara today, which is -- it's possible as well, or it can -- as you can see on the map, it joins Hamilton gate 3, the link between the high-pressure and the low-pressure TCPL system, so they can get gas in that line from Parkway or Hamilton or at Niagara, and it is up to them to operate the system, but it is generally used for domestic market along Niagara peninsula.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And just on that map, the Hamilton gate 1 and 2, that's a separate gate.  Where is that line coming from?  That's coming from your Dawn Parkway system?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right, so we started Hamilton gate 1 and 2 from our Dawn to Parkway system.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Just so I understand this one more -- try this once more, what part of your -- what -- part of what you've described in your evidence, you have contracted for new service to, I think it's 135 TJs a day, to -- on the Niagara -- from Kirkwall -- this is on TransCanada, right, to Kirkwall Dominion and Hamilton gate 3?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Now, that's a new -- that's -- that contract is something that goes into effect when?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's also tied to Burlington Oakville as well, so as part of doing the Burlington Oakville project, the commitment we had made, obviously when we do Burlington Oakville we're turning back capacity on the TransCanada system.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We are turning back some short-haul capacity.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And to --


MR. BRETT:  That's on the domestic line, essentially.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.  That's a short-haul from Dawn --


MR. BRETT:  This is the 140, 135?  Is that kind of a swap, or...

Sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you.  You made a commitment.  You are turning back some.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And really for two reasons.  We are turning back the capacity to allow us to build the new pipeline, but in terms of the Kirkwall commitment, it really serves two purposes.  One is today it is more of an operational agreement between TransCanada and Union, where we would give them volumes at Kirkwall, nominated volumes at Kirkwall, we'll tell them our expectations of the market at those two stations, and then they would deliver volumes to those two stations, and it is really done through an operational agreement between the volume-planning groups of both companies.

And we used to do the same thing at Parkway before 2011, and there is some evidence in our package around what happened in 2011 when we started buying more capacity from Parkway into the CDA.

So it's really the same situation at Kirkwall that we had at Parkway in 2011, so to keep TCPL revenue-neutral and to be able to provide transportation commitments between Kirkwall and those two stations, we committed to the 135, but it is linked to Burlington Oakville.

If doesn't go ahead then we -- again, a lot of things don't happen, right, but --


MR. BRETT:  If didn't go ahead you would rely on your current operational --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right, correct.

MR. BRETT:  But that -- they do that -- TransCanada fulfils their part of that operation -- well, either way, today or by -- you're saying today it's done by operationally.  If this goes ahead it will be done contractually, but it is the same basic deal.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Same basic...

MR. BRETT:  How do they carry out theirs?  Do they service that from the -- I mean, Kirkwall, they have to serve from their export line.  The Hamilton gate 3, do they serve that from the export line?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be correct.  So we would actually give them volumes at Kirkwall, and they would take those volumes notionally to those two stations.

MR. BRETT:  Notionally.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So it is interesting, you know, the Kirkwall line was built 20 years ago to flow from Kirkwall to Niagara to export volumes.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And as you know, in 2012 it actually reversed.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So volumes are coming now from Niagara to Kirkwall --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So it's a displacement.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is a displacement today.  It was different into 2012.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I think those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Tom.  Dwayne, were you next, or is it Eden?  I'm sorry.
Questions by Ms. Alexander:

MS. ALEXANDER:  In light of the fact that many of my questions, I think, were actually covered by Mr. Brett, I may be brief.  I have primarily higher-level questions concerning some of the -- just understanding the project in general and then concerning some of the alternatives that were looked at.

And I want to, just before I start to look at the map that was handed out, I just have a very basic question about it.  It is Exhibit B, OGVG 1, and I just have a point of confusion, actually, and that I was hoping to have clarified.

So I was looking at the map that was included in the application, which is Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule B.  Tab 2.  And so that map, you know, it shows Parkway west, it shows Bronte station, and then it has sort of a squiggly line leading towards Bronte, and it's a depiction of the Burlington Oakville project.  Do you have it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Tab 2, schedule A?

MS. ALEXANDER:  Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule A, yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And it looks from both the drawing, as well as sort of the survey plans that you provided in tab 12, that the Burlington Oakville project follows 9th Line, and that it also follows some of the other pipelines; is that correct?  That are in the area?

MS. GEORGE:  That is correct.  It goes towards the pipeline corridor down there.

The best maps to look at for this are really in the environmental report.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Right, okay.  So my question -- I don't want to get into the specifics of the direction, but my question is just in comparing it to the interrogatory response you provided, you know.  In Exhibit B OGVG 1 it is sort of just like a direct line from Parkway west that does an eastern jig towards Bronte gate, and I'm just hoping that you can clarify that this is sort of an estimate, or not necessarily an accurate, but sort of more of a general scope of the project, as opposed to a different representation.

MS. GEORGE:  Yes, that's correct.  I would say that this -- OGVG 1 is not to scale, and to see the exact route, the best maps are really included in the environmental report in evidence.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay, excellent.  And one last point.  It also shows on the Exhibit B OGVG the existing pipeline, the 12-inch, and it doesn't -- it shows that the proposed line would not run next to it.

Is it in fact -- then does it actually run next to that existing line?  So you have the -- you have both the proposed line and then the 12-inch line.

I'm just wondering if, in fact, in 2 scale they'd actually run side-by-side?

MS. GEORGE:  I'm just looking for the map in the environmental report that would show you exactly where the two pipelines are.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. GEORGE:  Maybe I could just take a look at this and explain it to you after the break, with the map.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Yeah, that's sufficient, and if there is any follow-up to be done from that, perhaps if you could provide an undertaking, like, if there is anything that comes out of that conversation that needs to be provided?

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe we just need to know specifically what you're looking for.  You just want to understand whether or not the new line is adjacent to an existing line as it moves from Parkway down to Bronte gate; is that...

MS. ALEXANDER:  Yes, and really just trying to clarify in the -- because it seems like we're using this exhibit, the -- from interrogatories, and I'm just wondering if, in fact, the new line should be depicted next to the existing line, just for clarity.  It's not...

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah.  What we can try to do over the break is find you a map which shows the exact locations of this line, the new -- proposed line relative to the existing line, if we have that, and then that would be able then to clarify.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  And for, you know, I guess --


MR. KEIZER:  I think -- I think we --


MS. ALEXANDER:  -- just for the sake of understanding this pictorial we can say it is a general description.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I think ultimately the reason why we use this as an aid today, this map, which is attached to OGVG 1, was because it showed all the various gate stations, showed the municipal boundaries, and showed the various pipelines, including the proposed pipelines, so it kind of had everything in one place, and it was helpful, in terms of people talking about flow of gas from one place to another place.  But it wasn't meant to be an exact geographic identification of w here the line was relative to each other, but we can provide you some clarification over the break.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  Thank you.

My next question then is:  Perhaps if I can go back to Exhibit A, tab 3, page 2.  And Mr. Brett brought us there previously.  And in the application, you know, it is presented on the basis -- and please correct me if I'm wrong, but it's presented on the basis of an anticipated problem in -- of growth in the Burlington Oakville area and implications for security and supply.  Is that generally true?

So at -- on page 2, you discuss how Union cannot continue to rely on the secondary market services and must address security of supply in the Burlington Oakville area.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the clarification there is with a settlement agreement now fully approved, TCPL will always build -- economic, and I assume it would be economic -- but they would always build short-haul capacity.

So in terms of buying a service from TransCanada, I think as long as it was new capacity or for a long-term capacity, I would assume that today that is available.

They would build.  It may even be available from time to time as existing capacity, but what's definitely not available is the secondary market.  I think that we got clear indication from our supplier that they made the election sometime in January that they are moving to Parkway from the CDA, so that is now off the table, but as our evidence assumes, we do assume in all our analysis that TCPL capacity is available.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So then the concern then that you are presenting in the application is primarily to do with the secondary market capacity?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think at that point in time we'd probably have some -- still have submissions around TransCanada, but I think they would be for the most part relieved, so at this point we've done our analysis assuming that the capacity is available, and we believe the project is the best thing for ratepayers based on the economic savings of a new pipeline and the other benefits that I mentioned in my opening statement.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Great.  And when then were these concerns first addressed?  Like, when did you first -- I know, you know, in some of your interrogatory responses you discussed how in 2011 you were already looking at some of the concerns with transportation capacity, and that in 2012 you were monitoring the open seasons, and that during the settlement negotiations in 2013, Burlington Oakville became -- you know, it was directly discussed.

But when were these secondary market capacity concerns primarily identified as something that needed to be addressed?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think back in 2011 and 2012 it was definitely an issue that we needed to address, and that was probably one of the reasons we started looking at a new pipeline, to be quite honest, and it was only after that pipeline project became sort of established and we had done enough work that we believed it was the right thing to do.  It was later than that.  It was in 2013, through the settlement and through a new capacity open season we saw in '13, where it started to become available, but at that point in time we were committed and fully believed that our ratepayers were best served by building this project.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So it is a good point, you know, the time line is important, and it was really in 2012 when we started to envision the project and the benefits it brings to our ratepayers, and --


MS. ALEXANDER:  But you had the Burlington Oakville project in mind prior to settlement negotiations for the Mainline settlement agreement --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was well developed by then, and so it became part of the settlement discussions, and in the settlement agreement it is pretty prominent.  It is not a sentence.  It goes on for a few paragraphs.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Right.  Prior to the Mainline settlement agreement -- and I know that you did touch on this briefly previously, but was the excess physical capacity on TCP Mainlines -- line, was it sufficient to supply the Burlington Oakville area?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was actually insufficient, so going back to 2011, TransCanada had asked us to actually contract for incremental capacity to go from Parkway to a CDA.

Just to give a bit of history, before direct purchase happened we would have had a lot of capacity from Empress to the CDA, and as folks went to direct purchase, industrials and eventually retail marketers, we would have assigned away some of our long-haul capacity from Empress to Parkway -- or to, sorry, Empress to CDA, so over time Union maintained some of those contracts, but a lot of them had been assigned away.

And as those folks were given flexibility to de-contract and rely on a secondary market, there were some of those contracts that got turned back to TransCanada, so as time went on the amount of capacity we had with CDA as a specific end destination declined enough that TCPL thought we did not have enough capacity between Parkway and the CDA.

That's really what created the issue initially when TCPL came to us saying, You guys need to contract for capacity from Parkway to CDA.  You no longer have enough with CDA as a final delivery point, or delivery area.


MS. ALEXANDER:  How much of that capacity that existed was capable of serving Burlington Oakville?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We determined in 2011 from November 1 we needed 80 TJs a day of new capacity to recognize TCPL's request.

Unfortunately, TCPL did not have enough long-term capacity to provide us 80, so they gave us 16 TJs a day that was, I'm going to call standard firm service that had renewal rates, and we still have that 16 today.  And then the other 64, they gave it to us as a one-year FT non-renewable, so we had it for one year, and it has really been that 64 that we've gone to a secondary market, and we've changed that number year to year depending on market need, but it is basically in the 60 to 64 TJ a day range since November 1 at 2012.

MS. ALEXANDER:  I'm just looking at Exhibit A from the interrogatories for CME No. 1.  And in your response you refer to some of the firm long-haul transportation to Union CDA.  And you indicate that there has not been any firm short-haul capacity offered to Union between 2012 and 2014.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mr. Shorts clarified that generically in his opening, in that we've been following existing capacity open seasons year to year, has not been available. It did become available on a new capacity open season starting in '13.  And I'm talking the short-haul.  What this is referring is to is, there was long-haul available to the CDA.  It is very uneconomic and very expensive supply, so really focus on the short-haul.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Did you ever have discussions with them about the possibility of there being short-term -- or short-haul firm capacity?  Like, if -- you know, obviously they didn't present any, but would it -- were there inquiries?

MR. SHORTS:  Throughout the open seasons we monitored all the capacity that was available during the open seasons, and we had assumed that TransCanada at some point in time could offer that capacity, but at that point in time they did not have any available for us and made it quite clear every time we had requested for the short-haul capacity that there was none available but we could contract long-haul if we so chose to.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So no specific requests were made regarding short-term capacity, but you were monitoring them generally?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We did enter their open seasons.  It was listed as not available, but we entered anyways, and we were declined, as we would expect, but we were definitely pursuing it as existing capacity.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  With Ms. Alexander's indulgence, I don't know if we want to go back over this, but I want to make sure the record's clear.  You switched from new to existing capacity.  Could you maybe restate that?  What did you submit as a request in the open season?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Existing capacity.

MR. QUINN:  So only existing capacity.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And the two open seasons are separate, like, happened at different times, so we would have pursued existing capacity open seasons, not new capacity open seasons.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just wanted to make sure the record was clear, because I was confused.  Thank you.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Dwayne.  Just one moment of indulgence while I find my tab here.

I'm just going to turn us to Exhibit A, tab 4, page 8.  And this works in correlation with Exhibit B from BOMA 4 B that Mr. Brett did touch on.  And he did already discuss some of the changes to the reconfiguration and the creation of the three distinct service areas, and my question is really in relation to the shortage that we were discussing earlier, and that you identified in the Burlington Oakville area, and whether or not the reconfiguration contributes to that shortage at all?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not at all.  No, we've always had the shortage based on the current configuration, and even if this configuration were to go in effect today, we would have the same shortage in the ECDA, which is the Bronte-Burlington gate station area.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  So it has no effect at all.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It has no effect at all.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And I have reviewed the interrogatories, and I know that we discussed it a bit briefly, but have you identified the key drivers to that shortage?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was the one I had mentioned earlier on about, we had the long-haul contracts, and we've had them forever type thing, and as people would direct purchase we would assign away our Empress to CDA contracts to industrials and retail marketers, and ultimately they had the flexibility to turn that capacity back to TCPL, and they rely on other secondary market ways to get the gas to delivery, so eventually if TCPL is looking at the market area and the CDA and all the contracts that we had going to the CDA, with those contracts being turned back we were eventually short capacity between Parkway and the CDA.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And that's what led you to begin talking about it in the settlement --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That led to the settlement, to the 80, and TCPL coming to give us 16 on a permanent basis and 64 on a one-year basis, so once they identified -- they came to us and said, You have a need.  We can only solve 16 of the 80 in terms of your need long-term.  And then we had to go to the secondary market to get the remaining 64.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And then that's where you came to be discussing it in the settlement agreement and settlement negotiations and...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right, but that was probably the leading thing that triggered us to start looking at it, but as we looked at it, it became a better alternative for a bunch of different reasons which I identified in my opening statement, the other advantages.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And what was the cost estimate of the project when it was -- during discussions in the settlement agreement?  I know that these numbers are available, but just if you can enumerate them.

MR. REDFORD:  Some are in '13.

MS. GEORGE:  At that time the cost estimate was around $79 million.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And what is it today?

MS. GEORGE:  The estimate is $119.5 million.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Are you able to summarize what the key drivers to that increase is?

MS. GEORGE:  So increases over -- changes in cost estimates in the early stages of a project are common.  They are really an outcome of prudent project planning.  As we review the options, define all the project parameters, and then the costs change, so the numbers that we're referencing, the first one, the 79 million was a high-level desktop estimate, and the -- the 119 million reflects the refined scope, the current route.  It has current pricing for materials and equipment.  It includes the land costs and the urban area with the significant future development planned in that area and construction along this route.

MS. ALEXANDER:  This route, as opposed to the -- sorry, this route along the 9th Line, as opposed to the -- is it Trafalgar Road?

MS. GEORGE:  No, the cost estimate as we said in one of our IR responses -- I think it was VECC...

MR. QUINN:  CCC 14?

MS. GEORGE:  It was SEC -- oh, no, it was OGVG 12.  The cost estimate for the Trafalgar Road route was 119.

So the 79 million was really -- it was a desktop estimate.  It was a magnitude level.  It was based on historical pricing and the early scoping, and as we got into further detailed design, we went to a contractor to get pricing, and we also started looking at material pricing, as well as the land costs in the area.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Right, and those you've addressed in your interrogatories those differences.  Thank you.

In your -- just my next question:  In the interrogatory staff responses -- or responses to Staff interrogatories at Exhibit B, Staff -- both 1-1 and 4-1.  And we are returning, again, to the conversation about how the new delivery areas do or do not affect the Burlington Oakville project, and you mentioned that the changes in the Union CDA were negotiated and agreed upon in the settlement agreement and that they facilitate the Burlington Oakville project, and you've talked a bit briefly about that already in your discussion with Mr. Brett, but I was hoping that you could just break down for me what you mean by "facilitate" specifically.  That's in Exhibit B, Staff IR 1-1.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, within the settlement agreement there are a number of things that are tied to the Burlington Oakville project.  One of them is the division of the current CDA into three -- into the three segments, if you want, or three different delivery areas, so my interpretation of the word "facilitate" is that it is linked to that, so if Burlington Oakville goes ahead, then that happens as well.  If Burlington Oakville doesn't go ahead, then I'm assuming we're back to one CDA for the three points.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay, so then at the time of those discussions was the feasibility of the Burlington Oakville project decided?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, at that point we were pretty far advanced, in terms of capital estimates and looking at different routes and paths, and we were pretty far advanced.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So at the time of the settlement agreement negotiations had you looked at all of the alternatives?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would have started looking at alternatives.  It wouldn't have been complete.  We didn't actually file the evidence until last winter, basically, right, so the settlement was signed and sealed in October of '13, but we've been looking at this project since 2012, so during settlement discussions we would have been in the middle of all of our work.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So, sorry, so during the settlement discussions then you had discounted the other alternatives and had decided that Burlington was...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We were going down the assumption -- we were going down the path, the assumption was that the project was the best, and we still had to go through more analysis to prove that to ourselves.

MS. ALEXANDER:  When do you think you stopped, like, that you clearly decided, all right, this is our best route, and stopped considering other alternatives?

MS. GEORGE:  By "route" are you talking about physical route?

MS. ALEXANDER:  No, I'm sorry, I mean that the Burlington Oakville project itself was the best way to proceed, as opposed to other commercial or physical alternatives.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, as Ms. George noted, that even the capital cost back in 2013 settlement days was even lower, so the economic benefits were larger at that point in time.

The cost to carry that pipeline project of 70- or $80 million is going to be lower than carrying it at $119 million, so at that point in time the benefits were greater, so it would have been a stronger case to a commercial solution.  We may not have had the final route.  You know, obviously, even going Trafalgar Road to 9th Line was late in the process, but from an economic perspective we knew it was the best for our ratepayers.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And that was in comparison with the other alternatives?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Compared to the other alternatives.  And we would have had the settlement tolls, would have become clearer to us in the fall of '13, so we wouldn't have had those until, I'd say August or September.  August -- probably mid-August we would have had the first draft of the settlement tolls.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Because it sounds like it's also -- there are aspects -- it's built into the settlement agreement as well, so there are parts of the settlement agreement that make it feasible?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I wouldn't say make it feasible, but I think it locks in -- locks in -- settlement agreement for the most part was around finding the best facility set for in around Parkway.

We had been asked by the OEB in 2012 to work together, the three companies, Enbridge, Union, and TCPL, I guess to a lesser extent GMI, and the settlement was kind of the outcome of that, and the settlement agreement was the outcome of those discussions.

So Burlington Oakville was included because it was -- it comes off of Parkway west as part of that general area, if you want, so Union wanted to make sure that we were transparent, in terms of our plan to build the pipeline and included in the discussions.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Thank you.  I just have just one or two more questions.  You mentioned just previously that you had been encouraged in previous decisions to collaborate with TCPL and Enbridge, and I'm wondering to what degree that collaboration continued in your consideration of alternatives.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So we went into the settlement negotiations with Burlington Oakville project, as I say, not fully vetted, but I'm going to say fairly far advanced, and coming out of the settlement discussions it was included within the document.  We have a better understanding of what the settlement tolls were, obviously.

We also knew that TCPL would be able to build, so we -- before the settlement discussion we wouldn't have had certainty around TCPL being able to provide the capacity.

Settlement agreement provides us certainty that it is very likely, you know, close to 100 percent likely, that they would build capacity if required.

So it was a test for us, if you want, in terms of testing again the notion of, do we buy a service or do we build a pipeline, and through the settlement discussions it reinforced for us that the best option for ratepayers is still the pipeline, for the reasons I discussed.  It's economic at the beginning, it provides for load growth for 40 years, no more uncertainty around having capacity for 40 years.  It provides declining cost to our ratepayers in terms of cost to carry the pipe.  It's in the best interest of our ratepayers.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And so just to go back to my specific question then, in your interrogatory responses, specifically in OGVG 10, I believe it is, you discuss and you provide some information about collaboration or discussions that were had with Enbridge.

And I'm wondering, did you have discussions with TCPL, or with TransCanada as well concerning similar options?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We had those discussions, I guess, during -- we had those discussions during the settlement itself, in terms of, we are building a pipeline to provide service to ourselves, if you want, so that was very transparent.

Once we came out of -- once we came out of the settlement agreement, and especially once it got approved by the NEB, there were really no more questions.

In our evidence we assume that TCPL can build and provide the full service, we assume that, and I'm assuming that today, that they can provide the service.

So there is really no reason to go back, and I know that was one of the interrogatories, was, have you talked to TCPL since that settlement was approved.  There is no reason to.  The discussion happened during the settlement discussion.  It is in the settlement agreement.  It is explicitly tied to two or three other things happening.  TCPL's revenues are kept whole.  The full impact of all of these changes are included in the settlement rates already.  They were forecast to happen November 1 of '16, so there is no unexpected impact to anybody.  It is fully built into the settlement.

Now, have gone back to TCPL, just based on the interrogatories, and I'm not surprised that they feel that they can build.  That's not a surprise.  That's what I would expect.

MS. ALEXANDER:  And in concern to alternatives then, you're saying you discussed alternatives during settlement negotiations and didn't discuss alternatives after.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, I -- back up.  I wouldn't have said I discussed alternatives specifically, but obviously an alternative is TCPL providing the service or not providing the service, so we assumed that they could provide the service.  We didn't sit down and look at economics.  We didn't sit down and look at the cost of option A versus option B.

What was discussed is Union Gas would build a pipeline down to Bronte that would provide direct services to our customers using our own asset.  That was explicit.

MS. ALEXANDER:  So in the application -- and this may be my final question.  In your application you include, you know, the one physical consideration, and then the other -- and then some commercial alternatives, and were there other -- did those encompass the discussions that were had, say, with TCPL or with other companies, or are there considerations that are not included in the application?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the discussions we've had or the alternatives we looked at were really, you can call them three different categories.  One is build a pipe, which is the basis of the application.  The second is some form of TCPL service, whether it's through Kirkwall or through Parkway or long-haul, so there are several different alternatives there.


And then the other bucket would be an exchange service, which the most common thought people would have is do an exchange with Enbridge.  So that was the OGVG 10 reference you brought up.

So those are the three options that we looked at.  There are sub-options within each of those buckets.  The exchange only had one, but the build had different, you know, different paths, different pipeline sizes, that type of thing, and the TCPL alternative had different starting points, whether it is Dawn, Parkway, Kirkwall, or Empress.

MS. ALEXANDER:  All right.  So no other alternatives other than those were discussed with TCPL or with Enbridge?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, I want (sic) to overstate discussion with TCPL.  We didn't really go through them all.  We didn't -- but we did talk to TCPL specifically about us wanting to build a pipeline.

MS. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.

We're close to eleven o'clock, so maybe we should take a short break.  Dwayne you're up next.  Do you still -- okay.  John, you're up next.  How long do you think you'll be?

MR. WOLNIK:  I think 30 to 40 minutes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And Dwayne, is yours shortened at all?  Are you still --


MR. QUINN:  No, it's --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  -- may not be.  Just a point, Mr. Millar.  Union was going to bring a larger picture.  I don't know if that could be available, because it may be helpful for my questions.

We may be able to get along with the one you've provided already, but the other thing is you are going to provide Ms. Alexander some clarity when you come back.  Can she still have opportunity to ask questions when you have your exhibit and your answers in hand?  I just think that would be helpful to Ms. Alexander.

MR. KITCHEN:  We are working on the map, Dwayne.  I keep sending texts to find out where it is, so...

MR. KEIZER:  But it will look the same as the handout that we have, just bigger.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I didn't know what you had in store, but, okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why don't we take our break.  We'll come back at 11:15.
--- Recess at 10:56 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:05 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Welcome back, everyone.


Mr. Wolnik, would you like to begin?


MR. KEIZER:  I wonder first whether we should deal with Ms. Alexander's request about the map and we can clarify that.


MS. GEORGE:  So we don't have a map in the environmental report right now that shows both pipelines, but I think I can use this visual to explain where the 12-inch is, and then if you want we can provide a map later.


The 12-inch Parkway line comes off of our existing Parkway station, which is across the 407 in the city of Mississauga, so they are starting from a different location.


And you can see on here it is the very pale line that has an arrow to it, so they -- and that -- and basically between the two pipelines is the 407, and then where they cross over each other, that is really right around where the 407 and the 403 connect, and so they cross over the 407, and the 12-inch essentially parallels 9th Line the entire way down to where -- to connect to the 20-inch Oakville-to-Burlington line, so there is a little section of about two kilometres, which I can highlight in the environmental report if you have a copy of the environmental report with you in one of the maps where they're both paralleling 9th Line, and that's it.  That's the only area where they are close to each other.


MS. ALEXANDER:  Just a follow-up question then.  Just a follow-up question.  The section -- I am assuming then that easements were required for the section that is not running parallel to the existing pipeline?


MS. GEORGE:  Easements are required for the whole route.  Easement and -- or road -- or in road allowance for the entire route.


MS. ALEXANDER:  So the entire project is in a separate tranche or --


MS. GEORGE:  Yeah.  Yes, and -- yes.


MS. ALEXANDER:  And when -- like, have all of those been acquired?  Or I imagine you're just in the process?


MS. GEORGE:  We are in the process.  We've talked to all of the landowners.  In Board Staff IR, I think it's 806, 6-1, I do have an update to the interrogatory response that we have not yet obtained the necessary land rights from seven landowners located along the pipeline.  But we've talked to everyone.  No one has advised that they object to the project in any way, and the discussions are really centred around compensation and timing of construction.


MS. ALEXANDER:  Can you provide us with an idea of when you began those discussions of obtaining the easements?  When you commenced those?


MR. KEIZER:  Unless we have it readily at hand, I think we can undertake to provide you with that then.


MS. ALEXANDER:  Thank you.  That would be excellent.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be Undertaking JT1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN IDEA OF WHEN DISCUSSIONS BEGAN ON OBTAINING EASEMENTS.


MS. ALEXANDER:  And that's my only question.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Can we move now to Mr. Wolnik?

Questions by Mr. Wolnik:

MR. WOLNIK:  Good morning, panel.  I have a few sort of question areas, and what I'd like to do is to start with a map that I guess is on the screen and is also part of OGVG 1.


As I understand this new delivery area, the ECDA --


MR. REDFORD:  John, are you on mic here?


MR. WOLNIK:  I'll get closer.  How's this?


Okay.  As I understand this new ECDA delivery area, you can have volumes delivered either at Burlington gate or Bronte gate; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  At your option.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would nominate ECDA, and those stations would take gas as required.


MR. WOLNIK:  As required.  Okay.  Very good.


And your proposal is to construct this new 20-inch line from Parkway to the existing Bronte gate station; is that right?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And I understand that the 40-year analysis that you have completed identifies additional volumes that you would provide for through that time frame, and I think if I've got my numbers right, there is about another 138 TJs a day of growth that you would provide for?


MR. HOCKIN:  The growth number is 74.  It's roughly 3.7 TJs a year on average for 20 years.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.


MR. HOCKIN:  Those are the numbers that underpin the financials and the scenario.  That's over 20 years.


MR. WOLNIK:  So given that you are delivering all these volumes to the Bronte gate station, over that next 40-year period do you have to do anything to the existing 20-inch line downstream of Bronte in order to accommodate -- either to accommodate that growth, or age and conditions -- reasons for age and conditions you might have to do work on that line?


MS. GEORGE:  We don't have to do anything as part of this project, and we don't have anything planned for age and condition.  We don't have any projects planned for the 20-inch, what we were calling Oakville to Burlington pipeline --


MR. WOLNIK:  So nothing for this project.  I understand that.  But have you done a long-term 40-year study on what the expansion plans might have to be on that existing line?  And that's a 20-inch line, right, that...


MS. GEORGE:  That is a 20-inch line.


In terms of the distribution system, I may need Shawn to provide...


MR. KEIZER:  We do have someone here today who is more in tune with the distribution network.  Would that facilitate things?


MR. WOLNIK:  That would be great.  Sure.


MR. KEIZER:  We just have to make room for him in the -- have him come forward.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you could introduce him for the record, Mr. Keizer?


MR. KEIZER:  If I could ask you to introduce yourself and just state your title?


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  Sure, good morning.  I am Shawn Khoshaien from Union Gas.


So in respect to your question in terms of long-term plan for distribution system, we have looked at long-term plan, and they will require some reinforcements depending on different locations within our distribution system, but nothing on the 20-inch Oakville-Burlington line that was referenced to.


MR. WOLNIK:  So under the Union proposal then all of this gas is delivered to the Bronte station, and all of that will then be transported on the existing 20-inch line, so you are saying over the next 40 years you won't need to do any work on that for expansion reasons.


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  So essentially within the distribution system, depending on how the growth is going to actually develop, will require some reinforcements, but it won't be on that 20-inch Oakville-Burlington line.


MR. WOLNIK:  Where would it be required then?


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  It will be sections down the road.  There is some 12-inch line, and there is some sections within the Oakville-Burlington distribution system which are essentially -- could become bottlenecked depending on how the growth is going to develop.  Those will require looping.


MR. WOLNIK:  And what's the MAOP of that line, the 20-inch?


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  The existing 20-inch is 275 pounds.


MR. WOLNIK:  275.  And what's the age of that, roughly?  If I said the '50s, would that sound about right?


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  I'm not sure, so we can look into that.


MR. KEIZER:  Do you require that?


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So that's Undertaking JT1.2.  And Mr. Wolnik, could you repeat the question?


MR. WOLNIK:  What is the age of the 20-inch line between Burlington gate and Bronte gate?


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE AGE OF THE 20-INCH LINE BETWEEN BURLINGTON GATE AND BRONTE GATE.


MR. WOLNIK:  So if all of the gas is coming from Bronte gate station headed in a westerly direction on the existing 20-inch under the Union proposal, presumably there will be pressure losses through there, so will that result in more pressure losses than had -- you'd received volumes off Burlington gate station from TransCanada.


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  I guess one of the key elements here is the growth is actually going to happen -- the majority of the growth in that area is happening close to the 9th Line area, so even though the transmission reinforcement which we are proposing, it goes through Bronte, eventually, as Mr. Isherwood indicated in the opening statement, there will be a lateral coming off that 20-inch will also serve the proposed growth in town of Oakville and southern portion of Milton.  So it will not all flow through the existing 20-inch Oakville-Burlington line.

MR. WOLNIK:  I understand that.  I'm just trying to get a handle, though, if any work is required on the 20-inch line or any downstream pipe as a result of the pressure losses in the existing 20-inch line because you are taking more gas from Bronte that you could otherwise take at Burlington gate station from TransCanada.

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  So there is no work required on the 20-inch Oakville-Burlington line.  The reinforcements within distribution system that are, I would call them relatively short, 850 metres of 12-inch, you know, another kilometre of 12-inch, somewhere within the distribution network, so that's how we are projecting the distribution reinforcements requirement.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you are saying those reinforcements would be the same regardless of whether you received gas at Bronte from your new line or from TransCanada at the Burlington gate?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  Relatively similar, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Relatively similar.  What does that mean?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  Meaning that depending on supply, I guess under the assumption that gas is supplied at Bronte, as the scenario that we've ran.

We have not ran a scenario if the gas was supplied in different location, just --


MR. WOLNIK:  So there --


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  -- on the distribution reinforcement requirements.


MR. WOLNIK:  There could be a benefit by receiving gas from TransCanada Burlington gate that you haven't analyzed.

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  It would be insignificant.  It would be relatively small.  Even under the scenario when we are getting gas at Bronte gate station, as I indicated, the reinforcements in 20 years, they are less than two kilometres in different sections of the distribution system.

MR. WOLNIK:  But if you haven't analyzed it, how can you say it's insignificant?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  Again, we have to look into that.  We have not done that.  I'm speculating.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Speculating.  And can I -- I'd like to turn a little bit to, again, staying with the 20-inch, in terms of the age effects of that, are you anticipating anything in the next 40 years that you may have to replace that for reasons of age or condition?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  Not to my knowledge.  We do not have any integrity issues on that pipeline.

MR. WOLNIK:  But you haven't analyzed that either, then?


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  We do analyze our integrity of our pipelines on a regular basis, and we do not have any integrity issues on that pipeline.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And for class location is there any reason to suggest that you may need to derate that line for class location reasons?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  No.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  So from the perspective of sort of this project then, what you're suggesting, other than not having analyzed sort of the implications of the distribution reinforcements, you are treating this as equivalent, receiving the gas to Bronte either from your own new line or from TransCanada if you were to contract for services; is that right?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thanks.  I'd like to move to -- I know we have had a lot of discussion on discussions that you've had with TransCanada, but there is still a little bit of vagueness to me in the responses, so I'd just like to make sure I understand exactly what's happened.

And I know there's -- I know over the last five years, roughly speaking, there's been a lot of change in the way TransCanada has offered services and whatnot, including fairly recently just a few months ago as a result of the RH1-2014, and I know you've monitored existing capacity open seasons and capacity was not offered between Parkway and this new ECDA, but I'd like to just -- and I also know that you've assumed that capacity would be available.

So I'd just like to know whether or not you actually asked TransCanada since the RH1 decision, RH1-2014, whether or not they could provide service between Parkway and Bronte or other parts of the ECDA.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  As I mentioned, I guess, Mr. Wolnik, before the break that there is really no reason for us to go to TCPL after the decision got approved.  The thinking and the project development was all happening during the time we were negotiating the settlement as well.

So the actual settlement got approved as -- essentially as filed for the most part, and there were no surprises coming out of the approval, so everything that we expected to happen happened, essentially.

MR. WOLNIK:  So no -- I appreciate that, but is it fair to say then that you didn't ask TransCanada?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I went back to TransCanada in -- only because of the interrogatories that were being asked, and that discussion confirmed our assumption that TCPL can provide the service.  That's --


MR. WOLNIK:  So they could provide the service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have no reason to doubt that.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So my next question is -- and I think this was in one of the IR responses.  I don't remember which one, but I think the response was something like, yes, you know, you assumed they could provide the services, but you didn't know what facilities they would have to build in order to provide the facilities.  So if I could just, you know -- if they have to build the same 20-inch that you would have to build -- and I understand you would prefer to build, own, and operate that, than TransCanada -- but if they don't have to do anything, perhaps it's a different story.  So...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  From my perspective the story is the same whether they have to build a valve, a meter, a 20-inch pipeline, or nothing at all.  The comparison is our pipeline and the carrying costs of the pipeline relative to their service at their current toll.  So for me I'm totally indifferent to what, if any, facilities they need.

MR. WOLNIK:  I understand that's your position.  We may have a different position, and we'll talk about that at another time, I'm sure, so at this point you're not aware that any facilities would be required for TransCanada to provide an equivalent service at Bronte?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our analysis is independent of that.  It doesn't matter.

MR. WOLNIK:  Regardless of that, are you aware of any facilities that TransCanada would have to build in the event that you contracted for service from them?

MR. KEIZER:  He's already answered the question, I believe.

MR. WOLNIK:  I don't think he did.

MR. KEIZER:  We believe he did.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, well --


MR. KEIZER:  He said the position of the company was it is indifferent as to whether they build or don't build, and it was part of the analysis that assumed that TransCanada would be able to provide service.  That was the answer which he gave.

MR. WOLNIK:  Part of the -- I appreciate that.  One of the other things that we'll get into in a minute is sort of the net present value analysis.  And I know we've got two different -- two different views as to what that should be.  Union has expanded that into some broader societal benefits, and if those benefits are there for a Union build, then presumably they are also there for a TransCanada build.  So I'm just trying to understand if in fact any facilities are required, to be able to do a true apples-to-apples comparison.  If there's no facilities, that's fine.  If there are, I'd just like to understand that.

MR. KEIZER:  I think if you have questions related to that particular IR, which I think is an APPrO IR, which brought about the conclusion of the societal assumptions, then it would be helpful if you actually directed your questions and clarifications related to that particular IR, rather than in general.

MR. WOLNIK:  We'll come back to that then.  Let's move into the, sort of the NPV analysis that Union has done, and in one of the APPrO IRs we did talk about this 40 percent, which was a number that originally came from an earlier proceeding that Union was involved in, and calculation of that 40 percent.

In APPrO 5(c), if I could take you to that -- and this is the updated -- the updated one.  On page 2 of 4, in the -- so, 5(c), 2 of 4, in the fourth paragraph that starts "the least cost analysis", in the middle of that paragraph you talk about: "TransCanada tolls attributable" -- sorry, this introduces cash flows that are not Union ratepayer cash-flows.


So I'm trying to introduce the concept that if you contracted with TransCanada that would reduce the tolls on TransCanada, and there is a benefit to shippers of TransCanada.  And you make the statement that:

"That introduces cash flows that are not Union ratepayer cash flows."

I'm trying to understand that statement in the context of the settlement agreement, where you as one of the parties to the settlement agreement agreed to keep TransCanada whole in terms of the revenue requirement, and they'd get all the revenue requirement covered.


So my understanding of the settlement agreement, if there's a -- and I know you said that the effects of this are included, the effects of this pipeline are included in tolls, but if it didn't go forward and you contracted for the service from TransCanada, that would introduce new revenues to TransCanada.  Those revenues would go into the LTAA, is my understanding, and that would result -- plus on the update in 2018 -- that would result in lower tolls.  And wouldn't Union ratepayers benefit from those lower tolls?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They would be one of the parties that would participate in that for sure.  It would be Union, as well as all shippers using the eastern -- all shippers using the whole entire system, I guess, but specifically those in the eastern triangle.


MR. WOLNIK:  So the statement that introduces cash flows that are not ratepayer cash flows, do you still stand by that statement?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  My understanding of the question was around -- and I think that's where the 40 percent came in, in terms of 40 percent is what stays in Ontario, so to the extent that we're part of that, then we would get a part of it.


MR. WOLNIK:  So that statement is --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So would Enbridge, so would Gaz Metro, A&E.


MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  So that statement isn't correct any longer.  There are some benefits to Union ratepayers?


MR. HOCKIN:  I would like to clarify just so that we don't get an unclear record.  The evidence as we presented before the interrogatory was a cash flow from Union's perspective.  It is the cash flows that affects Union's ratepayers should Union buy a service or should Union build a pipeline, the cash flows associated with that directly.


The APPrO question then went further to ask the question of, aren't there other cash flows other than that, your 40 percent evaluation, which is outside of that cash flow associated with a buy versus build for Union's customers, so we recalculated an estimate of what that might be.


Your statement that says that -- then that there are cash flows that are inherent within this, which are Union ratepayer cash flows, is only partially correct, I believe.


Notionally, the 40 percent number that you've said here creates X dollars of transfer pricing or transfer cash flows, if you will, within the Ontario economy.  A subset of that X would presumably attribute to some of Union's ratepayers.  I don't know what that number is, or I have not tried to quantify all of that.


However, the whole notion of introducing a 40 percent factor and applying that to the equation is built upon a number of cascading assumptions that cause me quite some concern associated with trying to use that number as a figure that says Ontario toll-payers would lose X amount of money related to this as a result of that transaction.


MR. WOLNIK:  Do you agree that 40 percent is a Union number?


MR. HOCKIN:  That's a number that came from another case in another circumstance.


MR. WOLNIK:  Right.  Where you estimated the impact to the Ontario economy as a result of the holding consequences of TransCanada.


MR. HOCKIN:  In another circumstance.


MR. WOLNIK:  What's different?  Can you explain that to me?


MR. HOCKIN:  I don't understand, personally, how -- whether 40 percent is the right number or how that would transact for a circumstance which is based upon a short-haul to short-haul when the other circumstance was a long-haul to short-haul.  It was a different circumstance, different tolling mechanism, another set of circumstance.


However, if I take your 40 percent, and include that and assume that 40 percent is a proxy number which is reasonably correct for its purposes as a proxy, then it's still foundational upon the assumption that the existing toll which TransCanada is receiving from Union in some manner, if that toll is no longer paid by Union, that that is a cost -- that that becomes a net cost to the rest of the community, Ontario.


Further, the calculation that we've done here also includes the growth element, so the 74 TJs of growth over 20 years.


I have more difficulty -- we included it for you, but I have more difficulty with the notion that the toll that doesn't exist in TransCanada's rates becomes a cost as part of this equation transferred through this 40 percent equation.


MR. WOLNIK:  Would you disagree that if you contracted with TransCanada for some amount, whatever that amount is, just conceptually, that all tolls, including the tolls that Union pays to secure its supply, would be lower?


MR. HOCKIN:  Only if the circumstance where TransCanada is not using that capacity or not having any change in billing determinants for the next 40 years.


MR. WOLNIK:  Only if they don't use it.  So I'm not sure I understand that.


MR. HOCKIN:  Well, the way I looked at it was that if we're paying TransCanada $100 today, and your suggestion is, you know, 40 percent of that dollar is lost to the rest of Ontario if it's not paid, then TransCanada must inherently be having that pipeline empty or unutilized in some manner for the next 40 years.


MR. WOLNIK:  And that would be not an unreasonable assumption.  I mean, this is your franchise area, right?  You would presumably understand it better than anybody.


MR. HOCKIN:  I'm not arguing with those elements.  I'm just pointing out to you the facts are that the cascading assumptions are -- the 40 percent is right.  So we don't have another number.  We can use that.  That the revenue that Union is going to pay; that the revenue that Union theoretically could pay to TransCanada over the next 40 years related to the growth element is somehow their revenue and therefore a cost, if you don't do something with it; and further, that TransCanada doesn't need to build a facility of some sort.  And I don't know whether or not that's true or not.  We just don't know.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, so that was why I asked the question earlier, so at this point I think the answer is you don't know if TransCanada needs to do anything.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Can I just maybe add on to Mr. Hockin's statement there?  So I understand the first answer, I understand the second answer as to the update, but I guess the other part of this for me at least is, when we did the settlement agreement with TCPL we knew that by turning back capacity they would be short revenue, so part of the reason for going to the Kirkwall deliveries was to provide them, it's not exactly the same amount of revenue, but both are about $8 million, so to the extent we are turning back capacity from Parkway and Dawn to CDA, we are taking on the same data -- we're taking capacity from Kirkwall into the new amended CDA, and it is about the same value, so the societal issue that we're talking about here essentially goes away.  Only one of those two things happen.  Either we decontract into the ECDA and recontract new capacity into the amended CDA, or we just buy from TCPL.  Either way we are starting with $8 million, and --


MR. WOLNIK:  Aren't they completely different, though?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, not at all.  They are linked, and they are linked for that very reason.  That's why they're linked.


MR. WOLNIK:  So I haven't looked at the decision in the contract for 135 a day.  Does that -- are you suggesting to me that that may have a different set of economics that could be better or worse than what we're looking at here?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, it is addressing another operational -- I'm not going to say issue, but operational arrangement that we have with TCPL.  Not unlike where Parkway was in 2011.


So the concern we had -- and we had the same discussion as -- you remember, Mr. Wolnik, when we had the Parkway case around long-haul and short-haul.  It's the same question, right?  We convert from long-haul to short-haul, TCPL short revenue, and the tolls go up, and society is hurt by that, but our ratepayers benefit by that.  And the same thing happens here, except we have built in the extra level of protection with the contract at Kirkwall, which keeps TCPL whole.  Roughly, roughly.  It's not dollar for dollar, but it's roughly whole.


MR. WOLNIK:  So if you made the decision to -- if the outcome had been different, you'd made the decision to purchase the service from TransCanada to Bronte, are you saying you wouldn't also have contracted for the 135 a day?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  We'd do one or the other.


MR. WOLNIK:  How would you have met that demand to meet the 135 a day --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Same way we have for the last 20, 30 years.


MR. WOLNIK:  I haven't looked at that.  Can you just give me the 20-second overview?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is very similar to what we've been doing at Parkway prior to 2011, is we actually nominated volumes at our two stations within the ECDA, and we deliver those volumes to Kirkwall, and there is not a contract between Kirkwall and those points.  There is not an LBA, there's not an OBA.  It is sort of an operational agreement between the two companies.  And to the extent that we miss a nomination, as you would expect, we estimate load for the next day.  If we're short or long we make it up the next day type thing, so it's -- it works similar to an OBA, but there is no formal OBA in existence.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  I'll go back and have a look at that, or leave to Dwayne to cover off.


Can I take you to attachment 3 for APPrO 5.  And I assume this is your schedule.  Actually, maybe one quick question before we get to the attachment.

In the body of the response -- and this was on page 2 of 4 again, in the second paragraph.  Again, we're talking about this potential 40 percent benefit.  I appreciate you don't necessarily agree with that, but I just want to understand the math.  You say:

"The benefit to Ontario based on the 40 percent of the revenue paid to TransCanada is $11.4 million."

Can you explain how you arrived at that?  Because I don't understand how you got to the 11.4 million.

MR. REDFORD:  So on page 2 of 4, where the reference is, that second paragraph of part (c), that is our original answer to your interrogatory.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.

MR. REDFORD:  And then it starts at the third paragraph "Union has further considered", and then from there we did the rest of these calculations.

MR. WOLNIK:  So is 11.4 still valid?  Is that still a valid number, or are you saying it doesn't apply anymore?

MR. REDFORD:  Let me take you to the attachment number 1, page 1 of 4, in line 12.  It shows the net present value of the TCPL toll, which is line 7, is 11.4 million.  So when we did this calculation initially, it was done on the basis of the growth element.  So the growth element on this attachment is 11.4 million.


The existing demand, if all the other assumptions roll forward correctly, is 36 million, 36.7, and combined that's the total of 48.1, which is reflected on the attachment number 3 that we referred to.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So the 36 in it, the question of the 36, that's for the existing capacity?


MR. REDFORD:  The 36 is the existing capacity.  You can see that on line 8.  Those are TJs, 145 TJs for the existing capacity.  At the toll of 14.2 cents is seven-and-a-half million dollars.  40 percent of that is the numbers shown in line 11, and the net present value is -- it comes up to the 36 million.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, so the combined total of those is 48.1 million.  And I think if we go to attachment 3 now, you've identified the cost of the TransCanada option in line 1, 151.3 million, plus the 5.5 abandonment cost, for a total of 156.  Is that right?  That's the cost of the TransCanada component?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.  It is cross-referenced to another one of the interrogatories as well, yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  So if I take 40 percent of that, I get a different number.  Can you help me with that?

MR. REDFORD:  40 percent of what number?

MR. WOLNIK:  Well, the 156.8.  If I take 40 percent of that, I get a bigger number than the number we just talked about, the 48.1.  Can you explain that difference?

MR. REDFORD:  It is -- my methodology was to put it in -- into the DCF analysis, and so that's the -- I did the DCF with the figure at the gross end, with a number at the net, and that's the number that came out of my mathematics on it.  There may be a tax impact associated with that.  I don't know.

MR. WOLNIK:  It just seems to me that if you take 40 percent of the NPV, of the 156, it should give you the same number that resulted from -- on attachment 1, page 1, the sum of the lines 12 and 13.

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, I think it's the tax, John.

MR. WOLNIK:  So which one is more right?

MR. REDFORD:  This number is correct here, the 48.

MR. WOLNIK:  So if the 48 is right, is the 156 right?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  It excludes -- well, how can that be?

MR. REDFORD:  I don't know how to respond to it --


MR. WOLNIK:  If you'd like to think about it and get back to me --


MR. REDFORD:  I'm satisfied with the results of the calculations.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you don't think there is an error -- if you take 40 percent of the tolls, which is, in my calculation, $62.8 million, and it appears to me that's quite a bit different than the 48 that you came up with -- and I appreciate there may be tax consequences, but what it suggests to me is that there may be an inconsistency in the way you calculated these numbers.

MR. REDFORD:  I don't believe there is, but I could look at it further, if you prefer.

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  So that will be Undertaking JT1.3.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I just missed the undertaking.  Could he just repeat what the undertaking is?

MR. WOLNIK:  It would be to explain why 40 percent of line 3 -- $156.8 million on line 3, attachment 3 of APPrO 5 is different than the sum of lines 12 and 13 of attachment 1, page 1 of the same IR.

MR. KEIZER:  Aren't they two different things?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I will look into it further.  I suspect that we are making a simplifying -- collectively a simplifying assumption as to why the number can be the same, but I will look at it further and give you a more fulsome discussion.

MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO EXPLAIN WHY 40 PER CENT of the $156.8-MILLION ON LINE 3, ATTACHMENT 3 OF APPRO 5 IS DIFFERENT THAN THE SUM OF LINES 12 AND 13 OF ATTACHMENT 1, PAGE 1 OF THE SAME IR.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can I turn to attachment 2 now?  Here I think what you are trying to do is determine some of the other economic benefits from infrastructure spending, assuming that we go to I think what you refer to in here as a stage-three type economics, where you start to bring in some additional externalities, things like employment implications and whatnot.  And I think what it appears to me you've done in the first line is you've tried to identify the spending that would occur -- of the total $119 million you've identified the spending that would occur both outside of Canada, within Ontario, and then within Canada, but outside Ontario; is that correct?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And it appears in line 1, the vast majority of the amounts in line 1, the 110 million of the 119 relate to spending within Ontario.  Is my understanding that the significant part of these costs relate to materials, things like pipe valves, fittings for the stations and whatnot?  So -- is that fair?  I appreciate there's labour too.

MR. HOCKIN:  Maybe I can just give you some context as to how the number was derived.  The number was provided by the costing group on a -- in my words, not their words, on a detailed basis, so if you can imagine that the costs rolled themselves up into materials and labour and other things, ultimately.  But they have detailed line items in order to get to those subtotals, so they looked at those items and gave me the split among those items.

MR. WOLNIK:  So in terms of sort of the large material items like pipe and major fittings, have they been purchased yet?

MS. GEORGE:  No.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you're making the assumption -- and I assume they are all -- currently the majority of them are in this column B, which is capex in Ontario?

MS. GEORGE:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear your question.

MR. WOLNIK:  It appears that because the bulk of the dollars are in column B, which is the capex in Ontario, I'm assuming that the big material items, pipe and fittings, valves, et cetera, are part of that capex within Ontario.

MS. GEORGE:  The -- are you asking if in the pipe and materials are in column B in the 110 million?

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.

MS. GEORGE:  I'm not sure the breakdown within Ontario would not -- and outside, I would expect that the out-of-country spend would be related to materials.

MR. WOLNIK:  So when you purchase your pipe and major materials, you would go for competitive bidding on that; right?

MS. GEORGE:  That's right.

MR. WOLNIK:  Can you tell me the, for instance, the pipe, what mills would you go to to acquire a pipe like this, typically?

MS. GEORGE:  I don't have that list with me.

MR. WOLNIK:  But you would go to mills outside of Ontario.

MS. GEORGE:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And you have not bought the pipe yet?

MS. GEORGE:  No, we have not bought the pipe yet.

MR. WOLNIK:  Or other major fittings?

MS. GEORGE:  That's right.

MR. WOLNIK:  So this is an assumption that you would actually have purchased these things in Ontario?


MR. KEIZER:  I thought that the witness said that it was purchased outside.  Is your question inside or outside?


MR. WOLNIK:  Well, it appears since you haven't ordered the major material, that decision hasn't been made yet, so you don't know there's going to be...


MR. MILLAR:  You need to speak into the microphone.


MR. WOLNIK:  Oh, sorry.  Since they haven't purchased the material yet, they don't know whether those costs should be located in column B, which is the capex within Ontario, or potentially A, or even C, for that matter.


MS. GEORGE:  So the -- I believe the assumption is that the pipe will be bought out of country.  It's included in the $6 million in column A.  I need to confirm these exact numbers, but the -- I don't think that what you're asking me is correct, that pipe and materials are bought within Ontario.  The information will be provided based on where we're expecting to order from.


MR. WOLNIK:  Maybe what you could do is --


MR. HOCKIN:  Just for context, Exhibit 9, schedule 1 shows material for the pipe at 4.1 million and materials for the station at 4.9 million.  So --


MR. WOLNIK:  Sorry, could you just give that reference again?


MR. HOCKIN:  Schedule -- sorry, tab 9, schedule 1.


MR. KEIZER:  Is that Exhibit A, tab...


MR. HOCKIN:  Exhibit A, tab 9, schedule 1.  It shows materials at 4.1 and 4.2 or 4.9 million, so in aggregate the number within the estimate of 119 million is about $9 million, in my rough math.


MS. GEORGE:  The column B, 110 million would include construction costs and land costs, would be the majority of it.


MR. WOLNIK:  So all of that construction --


MS. GEORGE:  And labour.


MR. WOLNIK:  Sorry, go ahead.


MS. GEORGE:  Sorry, I just said "and labour".


MR. WOLNIK:  So all of that construction cost and labour would be within Ontario.


MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  So it wouldn't be any other foreign, foreign to Ontario, workers in here then?


MS. GEORGE:  We're not expecting that, no.


MR. WOLNIK:  But it could happen?


MS. GEORGE:  It's not likely.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.


MS. GEORGE:  The contractor that we're using for this pipeline is Link Line, and they are one of our existing distribution construction alliance partners, and we're not expecting foreign workers.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.  And just in terms of the capital cost, I think you were talking with Ms. Alexander earlier about a CME interrogatory about the capital cost and how it has changed over time, I think $79 million to 119 now.  This is a feasibility estimate; is that right?


MR. GARNER:  That's right.


MR. WOLNIK:  You haven't finalized that.  So there could be additional cost changes from this point forward.  You haven't done the detailed estimate yet.


MS. GEORGE:  I am confident in the estimate, but it is an estimate, yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  I don't have that IR handy.  Do you remember what...


MS. GEORGE:  Which IR was relating to the cost estimates?


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.  Right.


MS. GEORGE:  CME 2.  Exhibit B, CME 2.


MR. WOLNIK:  It appears from this that you've got -- you are at the feasibility estimate, so there are two different estimates that have yet to occur, the pre-budget and the budget estimate.


MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.  As we move through defining all of the costs and having more certainty around the cost, then it will go to a pre-budget estimate, and then it becomes our budget that we're reporting against.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  Do you have a more up-to-date estimate today than what was filed, $119 million?


MS. GEORGE:  I don't have a more up-to-date estimate, no.


MR. WOLNIK:  Thanks.  Dave, just coming back to the NPV side, again coming back to APPrO 5(c), the first line talks about "in order to respond to the question, Union has made a number of high-level assumptions", and I know in the application you listed a number of assumptions.


Did you make any other assumptions other than what were listed in the application itself?


MR. HOCKIN:  Sorry, the application or...


MR. WOLNIK:  I'm just trying to understand the assumptions, and I know you listed assumptions in the application, and I'm just trying to understand if there is any other assumptions that you made that were not contained in the application.


MR. HOCKIN:  Well, I think they are in the narrative, but in summary it assumes that TransCanada has the capacity.  It assumes that if they have to build, that there is -- sorry, actually, it assumes that there is no build required.  And let me explain that.  If TransCanada has to build something, then the revenue that is being lost is not available to the rest of Ontario, so to speak, because the revenue needs to be paid for that new build.


That is to say that the tolls don't go down if they have to build something that the -- because there is more usage of that asset.


MR. WOLNIK:  So if they have to build something the tolls would go up.


MR. HOCKIN:  If they have to build something, then the number we've calculated, the 48 million, is a different number.  It has to be less, because the assumption is that the capacity is available without any further build requirement, because by nature of a build, you don't have that money available for the rest of Ontario, so to speak.


It assumes that rates would stay the same for 40 years, and it assumes that TransCanada would not utilize that capacity or those billing determinants would not change for 40 years.


MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.


MR. REDFORD:  Mr. Wolnik, just to be clear, that 14.2 cents per gJ --


MR. WOLNIK:  I thought Mr. Hockin was clear, but go ahead.


MR. REDFORD:  Well, yeah, I just want to make clear that that -- the assumption is that that remains the same, and at 14.2 cents, isn't a matter of how many facilities are added in the CDA.  It is part of a larger, more complicated calculation of toll in eastern Ontario triangle, so there are many, many factors that would impact the 14.2-cents toll.


MR. WOLNIK:  Actually, I am quite familiar with that calculation.


MR. REDFORD:  And to that end, earlier you had asked a question whether that was -- the 40 percent was Union's number, and I just want to go back to that very, very quickly.  That number came from a 2016 Dawn-Parkway growth project IR, and there was a methodology that was suggested by APPrO in that interrogatory, and we made a calculation based on that suggested methodology, and the -- that it would be a proxy for much more detailed toll calculation.


And, you know, I think the impression was left that that was Union's number.  I'd say that it was -- Union calculated the number, and that indeed it's a proxy for a much more complicated piece, but that's something that was suggested by APPrO.


MR. WOLNIK:  And that question also said if Union has a better methodology to calculate, please use that, and you chose not to, so I took it from the response to that question that you were actually quite comfortable with the 40 percent.


MR. REDFORD:  I'm not sure we had a better answer.


MR. WOLNIK:  Do you have a better number today?


MR. REDFORD:  When we looked at the question, we wondered if there was in the end.


I think the 40 percent remains a proxy.  I don't know that there's a -- we couldn't really find a better methodology for it.  It's, you know, it is a simplification of a much more detailed toll, and we decided that we could leave it as it is.


MR. WOLNIK:  Fair enough.  Thank you.


In terms of the net present value analysis, my recollection is that when you looked at the build option you also included about $2 million of revenue that would result from the capacity that TransCanada otherwise contracted for at Dawn-Trafalgar would be freed up and you would sell that into the marketplace; is that right?


MR. HOCKIN:  I wouldn't characterize it directly that way, and maybe we'll turn up the interrogatory.


So in APPrO 3, page 2 of 3, there is a description of the credit, if you will, that is applied to the evaluation of the alternatives.


Since every one of these project analysis, whether it is the build of project or whether or not it is a commercial project, is a cost.  We have neutralized the impact of the Dawn-Trafalgar 60 TJs associated with this project because we're comparing ultimately what's the difference between the two options, a build option versus a commercial option.  And we've recognized that on the commercial options as a reduction to the cost of the commercial option of approximately $2 million a year, which is roughly $25 million by the time you do the net present value analysis of that $2 million.


MR. WOLNIK:  And I assume you would do that if in fact you built this facility, you would release that capacity, sell it, but it is my understanding that in the 20 -- I think it was EB-2014-261, if I have the proceeding right, that as part of that expansion plan of the 519 TJs a day that you're including to add, you're also including the capacity at 60,000 a day that you would hold in your own name in order to facilitate delivery of gas from Dawn to Parkway to put into the 20-inch, at least for this portion of the existing capacity.


MR. KEIZER:  Well, Mr. Wolnik, you just made reference to which EB number?


MR. WOLNIK:  Oh, 2014-0261.


MR. KEIZER:  Do you have that with us to show what you're referencing?


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.  It is Exhibit A, tab 3, page 2 and 3.


MR. KEIZER:  Of that case.


MR. WOLNIK:  Yeah, of that case.


MR. KEIZER:  You don't have that here?


MR. WOLNIK:  I do not have that here.


MR. KEIZER:  So the witness doesn't have the availability to see it.


MR. WOLNIK:  Well, we can talk about it generically if that's -- if you're okay with that.


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I'm actually -- I think it would be fair to the witness to actually see what you're actually referencing.


MR. WOLNIK:  Well, let me ask my question, and if it's better to be dealt with as an undertaking, I'm very comfortable to have that.


So what you've done here in this case is you've shown a credit for the capacity that TransCanada would release, but in fact you are also building incremental capacity to deliver to Parkway to put into this -- for the 60,000 a day to replace that contract.


And my question is:  Would it have been more appropriate to include the marginal cost of the expansion rather than the revenue that you would receive by selling the capacity into the marketplace?


MR. HOCKIN:  I won't deal with the specifics from that case in this answer, but I will speak to an error that you've made in your perspective, if I will.


You made reference to the capacity that TransCanada would release of 60 TJs, and that is factually incorrect, in the context of this.


MR. WOLNIK:  But if you do not renew that contract -- so you're saying is I may keep that capacity?


MR. HOCKIN:  There are really two elements in play.  The first element is TransCanada has a contract with Union to move gas from Dawn to Parkway or Dawn to CDA or whatever destination that goes, and what they do with that capacity is up to them within their whole planning horizon and how they operate their systems --


MR. WOLNIK:  Fair enough.  I would agree with that.


MR. HOCKIN:  -- et cetera, et cetera.  Secondarily, underneath the proposal here we are going to build a pipeline, but this Burlington Oakville pipeline that we referred to, and in order to accommodate the existing demands we require 60 TJs of Dawn to Parkway capacity for ourselves.


So we've recognized that 60 TJs that we require for this is being used on the Dawn to Trafalgar system, if you will, in the 2016 Dawn to Parkway case, and we've recognized that that is capacity that is not available for us to sell if we build this pipe because of the commercial option as the alternative.


So the most appropriate way to recognize it is a reduction in the lost revenue, and the lost revenues is at the M12 rate.  It is not lost revenue at a deemed incremental build cost that might be attributed to it.


So that's why it's recognized and it is laid out in the table on page 2 as a lost revenue opportunity, as opposed to a cost of incremental capacity created.


MR. WOLNIK:  But in fact, you actually do have to expand the Dawn to Parkway system to accommodate delivery volumes to Parkway; correct?


MR. REDFORD:  So in that application we are 84 TJs a day short at Parkway, so we have a Parkway shortfall of 84 TJs a day.  The 60 TJs a day could be utilized to reduce that shortfall to 24.  The 60 TJs a day would have no impact on that 2016 build.


MR. WOLNIK:  Why did you include it in the application, then?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the assumption here is -- the assumption here is conservative.  It is over the life of the project.  There will be years where you may be able to sell 60 a day, but I wouldn't assume that is every year.  It wasn't that long ago that Union Gas was long capacity.  We had more capacity than we could possibly sell.  So if the 60 was added to that there would be unsold capacity.  There would be no value to it.


And in the case that Mr. Redford just mentioned, where we actually oversold, it would act to reduce our length -- or, sorry, our shortfall, our shortfall, and we would just be more closer to being in balance.


So I think it's a worthy assumption.  It is conservative.  It makes that -- the service option look better, which is fine.  But I think it's conservative.  There would be some years where it would not be able to be resold for those two reasons.


MR. WOLNIK:  I guess I'm confused, then.  I don't understand why it was included as a specific level of demand in that same application.


I appreciate that's that application --


MR. KEIZER:  I think whether it's in that application -- we're talking about this application.


MR. WOLNIK:  Oh, I understand that, but in that application you specifically included $60,000 a day that would replace the TransCanada contract that you are releasing or that is going to be replaced in this application, so they are directly linked.


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think you've asked the question and you've answered the question as to why the calculation was provided at page 2 of APPrO 3, and what the presumptions were and how the calculation was derived, so.  But for the purposes of clarification at the technical conference, you've asked the question and he's answered it.


MR. WOLNIK:  Fair enough, we can deal with it at another time, but I think what I heard was including the 60,000 in that application sounded like it wasn't necessary.  Perhaps I misheard, though.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is necessary to support the Burlington Oakville pipeline, and we're assuming that's going ahead, so you need to plan for it in the '16 Dawn to Parkway application.


MR. WOLNIK:  So my final question is, just coming back to the -- coming back to the net present value implications, why wouldn't you include the marginal cost to get gas to Parkway rather than the revenue that you would get from selling the capacity?


MR. HOCKIN:  Well, if I can take you to the paragraph above the table on page 2 of 3 in APPrO 3.


MR. WOLNIK:  Mm-hmm.


MR. HOCKIN:  The last sentence of the paragraph quite clearly states -- it says:

"This treatment best matches how the amounts would appear in Union's financial statement under each of the alternatives.  These are the facts as to how the cash would flow."

MR. WOLNIK:  Those are my questions.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.  Let's go to you, Mr. Quinn.  Unless your time estimate has been reduced significantly, we won't finish before lunch, so can you look around -- somewhere around quarter to 1:00 for an appropriate time to take a break?


MR. QUINN:  Is that all right by the court reporter?  Sure.

Questions by Mr. Quinn:

I was about to stay good morning, panel, but I guess I'll say good afternoon, panel.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of OGVG.  I appreciate you've covered some preliminary ground, and I'm going to seek clarification in those areas.  It just makes sense in terms of logical flow, and then I'll head into some different areas maybe post-lunch.


So I'm going to start with the preliminary statements that were made.  Mr. Isherwood, at the outset you had provided a kind of summary of four benefits that were -- Union was looking at.  I'm just going to address a couple.  I don't need to have you repeat them, but in the benefit number 1 you said that benefits, you know, it's the fastest-growing in the franchise, and there is an additional lateral going to be needed in five or six years down the road.


Can you reconcile that statement?  And maybe it is Mr. Khoshaien, what he was referring to, but help us where that lateral is coming from?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll defer that to Mr. Khoshaien, but he did refer to it in his earlier comments.


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  Yeah, we still -- we are looking at the total growth in that area, Mr. Quinn, and the expectation is that there will be a lateral coming off that 20-inch line, depending on how the growth is going to be developed in that area.  The exact location of that lateral we have not finalized at this point.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so it's somewhere between Bronte and Burlington gate?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  No, it will be on the 12-inch line -- sorry, the 20-inch line off the 9th Line.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I just, I want to make sure we have clarity here.  You're talking about the 20-inch line -- the Burlington Oakville proposed pipeline.

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so a lateral will come off there and feed Oakville?  Feed Milton?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  It will be essentially going westerly and will feed the growth in the town of Oakville and the southern portion of the town of Milton.

MS. GEORGE:  Maybe I can refer you to the map, but I can't really see it, so I need my version.

Okay.  It is off of the new pipeline that's proposed, the yellow pipeline, and the -- it will feed the area, the south of Milton/north Oakville area.  That's the area that will be fed from that particular lateral that Mr. Khoshaien is referring to.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's helpful, Ms. George.  Thank you.

Well, Mr. Khoshaien, I had a question was going to relate to him, so I'm going to jump ahead to that and then come back to Mr. Isherwood if that's all right.

You were talking about -- Mr. Khoshaien, with Mr. Wolnik about the value of feeding more -- potentially feeding more from Burlington gate than Bronte gate, if deliveries were made from Burlington gate.

I know I'm not going to ask you to do a network analysis simulation as undertaking, but would you agree with me that if you had feeds from both ends of a pipeline, your system capability is increased, as opposed to feeding only one end of the pipeline?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  Well, it is a hypothetical question, and, you know, hypothetically, I think if you have two feeds into a system, I think that's, you know, that would be ideal, but in this specific case, when we looked at potential reinforcements within Oakville, town of Oakville, and in the city of Burlington, the reinforcement's actually on the distribution side, not on the high-pressure side, so it is within distribution piping and much lower pressure.

Therefore, those reinforcements are -- depends on -- depends on how the growth is going to develop.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I'm just going to leave it at that and defer.  But maybe just to get clear, you said hypothetically, yes, if you feed at both ends you would get increased capacity.

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  Well, let me just make sure I say this properly.  You don't get increased capacity.  Capacity is still the same.  It is just if you provide two feeds to any area, it -- overall, you distribute the gas flow in a different manner.  So --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then I will ask a more specific question.  If in this case Burlington and Bronte, if you are feeding only from Bronte or feeding from Burlington and Bronte, and your interrogatory responses you gave me said there was no restrictions around those gate stations, would you not increase the capability of the 20-inch pipe to deliver gas to that area?

MR. KEIZER:  Which area are you referring to?  The area of --


MR. QUINN:  The Burlington Oakville area that is fed by Burlington gate and Bronte gate.

MR. KEIZER:  But not the growth area.

MR. QUINN:  We haven't specified the growth area on the map, Mr. Keizer, so it is hard to define where the growth area you are referring to --


MR. KHOSHAIEN:  The growth is the yellow area.

MR. QUINN:  Well, there is yellow area to the west, there is yellow area to the north --


MR. KEIZER:  We are not going to supply to an area that's already grown, if it would assist -- the build is there to contemplate future growth, and obviously if we had a mass of houses there we'd already be there, wouldn't we?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  The majority of the growth, as that map -- the yellow area of the map indicates is in the northern portion, and that's where the majority of the growth is going to happen.

MR. QUINN:  So there is no growth west of Burlington gate?

MS. GEORGE:  I think the map that you may want to look at to see where the forecasted growth is is in evidence tab 6, page 10 of 12, and the yellow area is the area that is served by the Burlington Oakville system and therefore by the proposed 20-inch, but you can see in this --


MR. QUINN:  Ms. George, I think a lot of us are trying to catch up to you in terms of that reference --


MS. GEORGE:  Sorry.

MR. QUINN:  -- if you would just give us a moment, please.  Thank you.  Page 10 of 12?

MS. GEORGE:  Yes, figure 6(1).

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  So if I could continue with that, if you look at that figure 6.1, that indicates a majority -- it identifies the growth in that area.

Therefore, as indicated earlier, a lateral coming off the proposed 20-inch will provide the biggest supply to that majority of the growth.

Whether we get gas from Burlington gate or Bronte, I think, you know, it will certainly feed the growth in the southern portion of the Oakville-Burlington, but it all depends how the growth is going to actually happen and the sequence of the growth.

MR. QUINN:  I'm trying to reconcile two maps, and maybe because they are drawn differently, I'm understanding the reference Ms. George gave us on page 10, figure 6.1, showing the growth area.  But as I look on the map that I have, OGVG 1, the yellow portion that's west of Burlington gate is not included.  Am I wrong, Ms. George?

MS. GEORGE:  I'm not sure if I understand the question.

MR. QUINN:  Burlington is going to potentially grow west of Burlington gate.  How are you going to feed that?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it wasn't -- my understanding, it wasn't intended to be fed by this pipeline.  I think the earlier responses this morning when people asked about the growth area, I think in response to Mr. Brett's question, it was related to north Milton -- or north Oakville and southern part of Milton, which is the area adjacent to the 20-inch that this proposed project relates to.

I don't think anyone this morning in questions made reference to areas west of Burlington gate.

MR. QUINN:  Well, maybe they didn't, Mr. Keizer, but Mr. Isherwood started as this is the fastest-growing area in the franchise, and I look at this map, and it's growing.  Maybe the best way to handle this is by undertaking.  How does Union does propose and what's in the -- its ten or 20-year --


MR. KEIZER:  We are not taking that undertaking, because it is unrelated to this project.  The evidence is clear.  The evidence says that the growth area relates to the north Oakville and southern part of Milton that relates to this pipeline, not west of Burlington gate.

MR. QUINN:  Well --


MR. KEIZER:  So if you can point to me anywhere in the evidence that makes reference to west of Burlington gate and that we failed to provide information as to the growth in that area, then I guess we can deal with that undertaking, but until then we are not dealing with project areas or the system dimension areas that are unrelated to this particular project and this application.

MR. QUINN:  In OGVG attachment 1, which is still on the screen, there is a yellow area west-southwest of Burlington gate that is called "portion served through proposed NPS20".

MR. KEIZER:  Well, because it goes to the whole of the 20-inch line between Bronte gate and Burlington gate.

MR. QUINN:  And that's the scope of my question, Mr. Keizer, and that's why I was asking Mr. Khoshaien how does he intend to feed that.

MR. KEIZER:  But he's already indicated there will be reinforcement of various distribution lines --


MR. QUINN:  And we are asking where are they coming from, so I would like -- I can ask --


MR. KEIZER:  If you can predict the growth in that area, you should be in land speculation, because I don't think anyone today is going to be able to tell you exactly where a lateral is going to come off with respect to future growth --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Khoshaien --


MR. KEIZER:  -- over a 20-year period.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Khoshaien, does Union Gas still do 20- year system reinforcement plans for respective communities?

MR. KHOSHAIEN:  We do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that's -- so Mr. Keizer's question -- I'm not asking about speculating land development --


MR. KEIZER:  Let him finish the answer to your question.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm going to add my 2 cents here just to see if I can help.  But the map on the screen has a yellow shading to it.

MR. QUINN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That shading is just indicating areas that can be served by the new 20-inch pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of where the new growth is, that's really coming off of figure 6(1), which is showing it to be really north Oakville and south of Milton, and there is very little growth west of Burlington gate station based on the figure 6(1).

MR. QUINN:  Based on 6(1), sorry, I don't know what the assumptions that went into 6(1).  Can I ask by way of undertaking that Union provide its 20-year plan for the Burlington system?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we'll discuss -- talk about that later, then.

MS. GEORGE:  Well, I would like to comment on figure 6(1).  This map does show the growth areas that were used for the design and development of this pipeline, so 6(1) is the growth areas that fed into the -- that fed the forecast and that fed into the design of the pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  I understand, Ms. George, you are trying to be helpful, as a system planner, which I used to be in the old days with Union Gas.  I recognize that you have to look at an integrated system.  Burlington Oakville is, by this map, an integrated system, and to look at the east and north of this system without looking to the west is maybe possibly shortsighted unless you have reason to believe there is no growth, and all I'm saying is if you've done the work already you can provide it as an undertaking in this proceeding.

I have your answer, Mr. Kaiser.  We'll seek it later on if we need to.

Okay.  So Mr. Isherwood, I'm sorry, I went to Mr. Khoshaien thinking that we were going to get back to you very quickly, but I think your answer before, you had said about number 4 was it is an urban growth area and right now the right-of-way's available to you through Ms. Alexander's request on land that understands that you are already in negotiations for right-of-way.

To the extent that Union saw this as a risk to future build, could Union not take either, by an easement or by an option on the easement with the landowners to facilitate a future pipeline in that corridor?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Ms. George is our lands expert.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Sorry.  Sorry, I went from your question.  Thanks, Ms. George.

MS. GEORGE:  So as I mentioned, our conversations with the landowners are primarily around compensation and construction timing, and there is a focus on when will this be built, and I would expect it would be difficult to purchase the easement for future, something farther out into the future than what we are currently discussing.

MR. QUINN:  In your experience, Ms. George, have you ever bought easements for future pipelines?

MS. GEORGE:  Yes, we have done that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And I think I would just add to that, I haven't seen the final estimate, but the land is a fairly large portion of the cost of this, so it would be expensive to buy land, obviously, in this built-up urban area, so...

MR. QUINN:  Is the land estimate, Ms. George, for the easements, is that -- is there sufficient detail in the evidence -- you don't have to pull it up, but if it's already in evidence then I won't ask for it.

MS. GEORGE:  We responded to an IR.

MR. QUINN:  Mm-hmm.  Okay.  So it is in evidence then?

MS. GEORGE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's all I need to know.  I just want to make sure the number is out there.  Thank you.

Okay.  So I started to talk to Ms. George, and I'll continue in that area.  Mr. Brett was asking this morning, Ms. George, about utilization of the pipeline, and my understanding was initially the pipeline would be used in the approximately 50 percent range at the outset of the -- after the pipeline is built?

MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And I think you referred to SEC 3 as a reference to that; is that correct?

MS. GEORGE:  I'm not sure what your question was.  Are you asking me if SEC 3 refers to planning forecast?

MR. QUINN:  Is that the basis for your 50 percent of the pipeline being used, or are you relying on something else?

MS. GEORGE:  It's in evidence, in tab 6, page 6 of 12.  The design day requirement to serve the Burlington Oakville system is expected to be 202 TJs a day, and 54 TJs a day is served -- will be served from our existing Milton line and Parkway line.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I do the math and say it is about 148 TJs then is served from this new pipeline?

MS. GEORGE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MS. GEORGE:  And the capacity is 317 TJs, so it is approximately half.  And the capacity is referred to in Exhibit B, LPMA 8.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I wanted to get to SEC 3, because this is the -- my point of -- maybe it's different assumptions that underpin these responses.  So if you turn up SEC 3.

MS. GEORGE:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  When you are referring to the design day delivery requirement, what area is that design day requirement serving to come up with 167 in 2020?  Is that this entire Burlington Oakville combined area?

MS. GEORGE:  So the 167 is the total area minus the 54 TJs a day that will be served from our existing pipelines, Milton and Parkway line, for each of those years, because the question is relating to the pipeline build.  So that is what is required for the pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  I'm not sure I have you, so I'll just test my understanding by saying in 2035, then, it is 222 TJs is the last number in that response.  That refers to specifically can you tell me what?

MS. GEORGE:  The 222 TJs, and that is referenced in evidence as well, but if you add 54 TJs a day, it gives you --


MR. QUINN:  276.

MS. GEORGE:  -- 276 TJs, so that's on tab 6, page 11 of 12.  There is a table 6(1) that speaks to that math.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that's very helpful.  Thank you.  I just, I think where I was missing was the 54 when I was trying to reconcile the numbers, so thank you.

Okay.  Now, going back again -- and I think this was Mr. Shorts -- but to Mr. Shorts or Mr. Isherwood, I really want to get clarity on what was requested of TransCanada.

This morning it was said that -- and I think this was in -- actually, it was in your summary, Mr. Shorts, when you talked about the evolution of offerings from TransCanada, so what specifically did Union request once the offerings were changed by TransCanada?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, when you say "what the offerings were changed by TransCanada"?

MR. QUINN:  Your evidence previously stated that TransCanada couldn't provide the service, then you have, as I understood this morning, say -- said in offerings they made for '15, '16, and '17 services were made available.  Specifically what service are you referring to?

MR. SHORTS:  TransCanada did offer Parkway to Union CDA capacity if you had committed for long-term.

MR. QUINN:  Ten to 15 years?

MR. SHORTS:  It was either -- it changed from ten to 15 during that time period.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  But between ten and 15.

MR. QUINN:  So they did offer a Parkway to Union CDA that is -- for 2015 that would have been a 2013 offering?

MR. SHORTS:  That would have been the 2013 open season, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And I think it is something Mr. Isherwood said, so I'm just checking my understanding.  You didn't bid into that or request that service because you were at that point committed to Burlington Oakville?

MR. SHORTS:  We had a project that was better economically, as well as the benefits that Mr. Isherwood has explained from our own project, that did not entice us to go into a new capacity open season for a long-term commitment on TransCanada.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, just -- and it's a point that -- I'm going to finish with this, Mr. Millar, and then we can probably take a break, and then I'll -- I have a list of questions for this afternoon, but this morning, Mr. Isherwood, you were talking about the evolution of the Union ECDA, and you talked about in the -- keeping TCPL whole from a revenue point of view.  Later on it was referred to as about an $8 million wash one way or the other.  I see you're nodding.  I've got my facts straight?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So in that process, though, what Union was giving, to use a vernacular, was the Kirkwall deliveries to Kirkwall Dominion and Hamilton, and you were signing a contract with TransCanada to provide that service; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Was there a term associated with that service, the commitment?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, there was a term of 16 years that was actually in the settlement agreement as well.

MR. QUINN:  So the end of the term would there be a settlement agreement of 20/30?  I see Mr. Redford nodding.  Do I have that straight?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  So -- but in doing so you said something that struck me, and you said as part of working together at TransCanada, as, you know, as utilities and pipelines working together, you would basically let them know the expectations of how much would be needed at Kirkwall Dominion and how much would be needed at Hamilton gate 3?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  On a daily basis we let them know that.

MR. QUINN:  On a daily basis.  So that would form TransCanada's ability to know what's expected of it on a given day, so a day like today would be a different from a day in January --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  -- and TransCanada then can operate its system efficiently.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so these are all still -- these three are now considered -- sorry, if this project proceeds and the Mainline settlement agreement is fully invoked, this would now become the Union CDA and would include both Kirkwall Dominion and Hamilton gate 3.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think TCPL is calling it the amended CDA, but same thing.  TCPL called it the amended CDA.

MR. QUINN:  Amended CDA.  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to differentiate it from the current CDA.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  Okay.  And so you would differentiate your flow to each of those stations within that delivery area.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would nominate to Kirkwall and then volume planner to volume planner they would talk about stations.

MR. QUINN:  Great.  Okay.  I was just trying to make sure I understood that, Mr. Millar, and with that, I think it's an appropriate time for a break.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.

So why don't we break -- is until 1:30 enough time?  How much time do you have left, Mr. Quinn?  Less than an hour, I assume?

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I think 1:30 is enough time.

MR. QUINN:  If you are satisfied with that.  And that's not a bad estimate, Mr. Millar.  It may be more or less, depending on progress.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, an hour?

MR. QUINN:  No, no, sorry, he was asking me how much time I had left.

MR. KEIZER:  And how much is that?

MR. QUINN:  Around an hour, plus or minus.  Then again --


MR. MILLAR:  Let's try and come back for 1:30 then, and that way we don't have to stay here all afternoon.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess at 12:45 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we get started again?  Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Millar.

I hope folks had time enough for lunch.  I hope this part goes a little smoother, and my estimate is an hour, but we'll see how it goes.

I did have one more clarifying question as I was able to review my notes a little bit during lunch hour, and it just -- it's likely best if, while that is up on the screen, if you would turn up OGVG 2.

Sorry, I was waiting.  Have you got it, Mr. Redford?  My questions probably will go to you, because it is something you said this morning, and I thought we could maybe get some clarity on.

On the bottom of OGVG 1 there are two lines.  It says "TCPL domestic" and the "Niagara export line", and I think you referred to this morning that TCPL domestic runs approximately 300 pounds lower operating pressure.  I'm not even sure if that's the maximum operating pressure or operating pressure then of the TCPL, Niagara export line?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, I think that's their maximum operating pressures.

MR. QUINN:  And I was trying to get at that, and it was certainly unsuccessfully at this point, if you are looking at the table that you provided us, thank you, in OGVG 2, what we got was contract to pressure, and that's fine, that's what I asked for, but it doesn't necessarily tell you maximum operating pressure or normal operating pressure.

Would you agree with me on that, Mr. Redford, that these are not maximums or necessarily operating pressures, but the minimum delivery pressure that is in some cases by contract and in other cases by design by Union?

MR. REDFORD:  Well, I think some of these are maximum operating pressure, so for instance the 6,450 at Parkway and Parkway west from Union to TCPL, that is -- that's at the MAOP.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And nothing may turn on this, but if you don't generally speaking contract for a minimum delivery pressure at the MAOP -- I'm looking at Mr. Isherwood, because I think his background would help possibly here.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I agree.  I think they are more likely to be MAOPs than they are the contracted pressures.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So it is possibly a contracted delivery pressure that is the incorrect entitlement?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Parkway west is definitely 6,450 is the MAOP.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that's good you have that knowledge, because that would clarify.

And I guess we are not going to be able to derive too much from this, because if I'm reading it -- and maybe I can get clarity from the panel -- from TCPL to Union going to the area we're talking about here, Bronte gate and Burlington gate, the contracted pressure says 4,000.

Does anybody have knowledge that that's contracted or if that's MAOP?  If not -- and Mr. Keizer, if you are willing to take an undertaking, I could tell you what I'm looking for, and you can assess if you'd like.

MR. KEIZER:  Why don't you do that.  Tell us what you're --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I'm looking for what the contracted pressures were and the maximum operating pressure, because I think we're going to have to differentiate the two, and Union can provide them, but I'm going to stop at that, because we might want to make sure we get some evidence on the record.  Then I have a subsequent undertaking request, potentially.

MR. KEIZER:  Is there any -- I guess the question to come up as to relevance of why you need it for all the different locations.

MR. QUINN:  Well, as --


MR. KEIZER:  In...

MR. QUINN:  As you would well know, we had requested TransCanada's presence here, and so I understand Union is providing its perspective on TransCanada's system, and so I tried to get at it from the point of view of what is TransCanada delivering to Union in terms of the contractual commitment, but very importantly, talking about the capability of the system, the maximum operating pressure assists in understanding the range of capability of a system.

MR. KEIZER:  If I could just have a minute.

So what we can do is do our best to get it if we can and be able to provide it to you on that basis.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So just for that table to be clear, the contracted minimum delivery pressure, I'll say, contracted minimum delivery pressure, and the MAOP of the line.

I see Mr. Isherwood nodding?  You're comfortable with that description?

MR. MILLAR:  That undertaking is JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO PROVIDE WHAT THE CONTRACTED PRESSURES AND THE MAXIMUM OPERATING PRESSURE WERE.

MR. QUINN:  Now, the other one -- and I thought this might be a source of it, and again, it is going beyond the evidence we have in front of us, but it is clearly -- let's establish the relevance first so Mr. Keizer can hear it in that term.

Part of the evolution of services through this area includes what's happening in the TransCanada and the evolutions they must undertake to accept gas differently than maybe they did historically, so starting from the top, historically, the Burlington Oakville system was served from Parkway through either the TransCanada line or the 12-inch Parkway line from Parkway; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is also the 8-inch Milton line as well.  The --


MR. QUINN:  Thank you for elaborating, Mr. Isherwood.  I'd left that one out.

So we have three lines that are flowing from the north to the south historically.

Now, my understanding, I guess, is that in context, when we talked about services this morning, under existing services, Mr. Shorts, you said that you asked about TransCanada's ability to provide this Parkway to CDA, Parkway to Bronte, Burlington to the new Union ECDA, that was the request that we were speaking of when you inquired with TransCanada about their -- the ability of the existing system to provide the load?

MR. HOCKING:  We actually entered three subsequent existing capacity open seasons for that capacity.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But it would be to the CDA, which is the existing framework, right?  It would be still to the -- the CDA as we know it today.

MR. QUINN:  Starting at Parkway, though, Parkway being the receipt point and then delivery point being CDA --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The broad --


MR. QUINN:  -- broadly speaking.  Thank you.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And so you submitted three separate requests?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, we -- the requests were done in -- I know we did one in '12, one in '13, and one in '14, into the existing capacity open seasons.

So we did -- we entered one in June of 2012, we entered one in May of 2013, and we entered another one in June of 2014, all for roughly the same capacity, 64, 65.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, specifically, though, that's with a receipt point at Parkway?

MR. SHORTS:  The receipt point was Union CDA -- sorry, delivery point was Union CDA.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  And the first -- the one in '12 was Parkway to Union CDA.  The one in May of '13, we actually went Kirkwall to Union CDA, and the one in '14 we also did Parkway to Union CDA.

The rationale around the Kirkwall bid was we were getting the impression that that would be -- that Parkway was going to be in path of that, so we chose to try that since we were denied the other option, but TCPL denied that request as well.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And implicit in that assumption, Mr. Shorts, would be that the gas would notionally be flowing from Niagara through to Kirkwall, and then you would have a potential better opportunity of having Kirkwall to CDA type delivery?

MR. SHORTS:  The Kirkwall was just basically we could get volumes to Kirkwall, and if TransCanada could get volumes to the Union CDA, we could certainly deliver the volumes to Kirkwall on our own system, not necessarily coming the other way.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But it's feasible that the volumes could be -- well, let me take this in two steps.  I think Mr. Isherwood alluded to it earlier today that the Kirkwall line is built from Kirkwall to Niagara with a flow going in that direction, and it is a matter of evidence in past proceedings and natural-gas market review most recently that the flows are predominantly going now Niagara to Kirkwall.

MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  That's correct.  Okay.  So to be able to undertake this evolution, TransCanada obviously has to make some adjustments to its facilities.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It did, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And they --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We did as well, at Kirkwall.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And they most recently, as I understand, submitted a section 58 application to the NEB to facilitate these changes?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They submitted an application to the NEB to provide the Enbridge servicing.  They call it the Horseshoe project or something like that, Horseshoe --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Maybe I have the section wrong.  My...


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Greater Golden Horseshoe.


MR. QUINN:  Greater Golden Horseshoe.  Mr. Redford, thank you.


Could Union undertake to get that and to file it?


MR. KEIZER:  I'm not sure why we'd be filing it if it relates to Enbridge proceedings.


MR. QUINN:  Because, Mr. Keizer, you said that you would on a best-efforts basis try to figure out some of the requests I've made for pressure.  Frankly, that part of that application, they have to tell the NEB what their pressures -- MAOPs are and their operating pressures will be, so it would be a source of that data to confirm that what TransCanada is doing to provide flow into that area is obviously a matter of public record at the National Energy Board, but obviously we don't have access to it in this proceeding.


MR. KEIZER:  But you have access to it.  You can access the NEB site if you want to confirm the numbers.  I'm not sure why we would file a TransCanada application in this proceeding.


MR. QUINN:  Well, we had asked the TransCanada to appear, and I would have liked to have asked them question about --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, you got denied on that point.


MR. QUINN:  We did get denied, so I'm trying to actually get the information, the technical data, that's publicly available on the record in this proceeding, and this is just another publicly available source.


MR. KEIZER:  Well, you have an opportunity to file evidence, but also, you know, we've undertaken to update the table and clarify the table in OGVG 2, which we will do based on our understanding.  I'm not sure why it's helpful for us to now file an NEB application in this proceeding.


MR. QUINN:  I just thought it would save us the -- I'm trying to be procedurally correct here.  You were concerned about Mr. Wolnik bringing up information from the Dawn Parkway system before, and to the extent that in the oral hearing we have to refer to it, it's already on the record and it doesn't have to be entered as an exhibit.  I thought that that was efficient.


MR. KEIZER:  My concern with Mr. Wolnik was the fact that he's raising questions about a document that was not in front of the witness, so if you have information that you choose to do that in an oral proceeding to the extent we get to that stage, then, you know, as long as you abide by the protocols of 24 hours in advance of providing us the information to see, before you examine, I guess we'd be happy to do that.


MR. QUINN:  48 hours?  Is that...


MR. KEIZER:  I believe the practice is 24 hours.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.


MR. KEIZER:  It doesn't matter.  I think as long as we actually aren't surprised by the documentation that you provide --


MR. QUINN:  Well, I don't think there will be any surprises now, but I just, I thought this would be efficient, so I'll move on.


I think we've established, though, that the historic flow was from Parkway into the CDA.  Now the flow is going from Niagara to Kirkwall, but can you confirm that the flow would also be going from Niagara through to Parkway?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the Enbridge contract with TCPL is to have a delivery from Niagara to Parkway to connect with Enbridge using the domestic line, and that's 200 TJs a day, starting in November 1 of '16 -- '15, sorry, '15.


MR. QUINN:  So the gas is reversing the flow?  From a historic flow from Parkway it is now going to Parkway?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, I think -- again, I'm not TCPL, but I think today what would happen is there is probably gas flowing from Parkway south towards Burlington Oakville, and there's probably gas from Niagara flowing, I guess, west towards Hamilton, and there is probably a null point somewhere that moves based on loads and flows and that type of thing.  TCPL would balance that between those two points.


MR. QUINN:  And again, I'm not asking you to be an expert on the TCPL system, but I tried this with Mr. Khoshaien this morning.  But to the extent that you have a feed-in from Hamilton gate 3 and you have a feed-in from Parkway into that same 20-inch line, do you not enhance the capacity of that line in terms of delivering to points in between those two positions, in between those two stations?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not -- I wouldn't know enough about their system to do that.  I think primarily TCPL relies on Niagara and Enbridge -- and, sorry, and Parkway.


MR. QUINN:  Well, I know, Mr. Isherwood, but we are somewhat inhibited by TransCanada isn't here, so if you have equal amounts of gas going into Parkway and Hamilton, would that provide more capacity than just that same amount of gas into Parkway?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our assumption is TCPL doesn't have a capacity issue.  Our assumption is that line can provide the capacity we need at the rates that are posted.  So for us it is not an issue of flow and what's better, what's worse.  If we assume that TCPL can do it from whichever way they need to do it.  We would give them gas at Parkway, and they would give us gas at the two points if that was a commercial option we chose.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, that is -- I want to break that down, parse it out a bit.  You are assuming that they can do it with their existing facilities?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Existing facilities or modifications as required, but they can do it.


MR. QUINN:  So they can do it, but you don't know if they need it to the extent you had this discussion with Mr. Wolnik earlier, you don't know if they --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We can -- if it's easier, we can assume that they can do it with existing facilities.  Like, it doesn't matter to me.  All that matters to me is I get the capacity at the current rates.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we'll get there in a moment, but having said what you've said, I'm still puzzled, and maybe we can turn up OGVG 10.  So in -- sorry, do you have that?  Okay.  So in that interrogatory we requested all meeting minutes, correspondence, letters, memos, e-mails, that documents discussion between Union and either TCPL or Enbridge or joint discussions to assess the feasibility of a firm exchange service between Union, Enbridge, facilitated by TransCanada.


Prior to the settlement agreement I understand, if I heard you correctly this morning, there were discussions with TransCanada and Enbridge about how this service could be provided; do I have that right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, I don't think I said that.  If I did, I misspoke.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, maybe I misheard it then, Mr. Isherwood.  Then prior to the settlement agreement, did you request TransCanada's ability to facilitate a firm exchange service between yourselves and Enbridge?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  And then post the settlement agreement going into place, my understanding, and if I -- my understanding this morning you said after some agreement's in place there was no need to go back and ask them.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So I think I'm going to separate the two questions.  One question, did we talk to TCPL about providing service, the answer is, yes, through the settlement discussions especially.


In terms of the exchange, which is a different aspect or different option, I guess, we did talk to Enbridge about that back in, I think it was 2014 when Mr. Shorts first sent an e-mail to his counterpart at Enbridge, and we talked to Enbridge about it more recently in the spring as well.  But we never talked to TCPL about helping or assisting with an exchange.


MR. QUINN:  So we have the Enbridge e-mail from 2014, spring of 2014.  You said there were subsequent discussions with Enbridge?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, based on the interrogatories we went back to Enbridge and asked the question again.


MR. QUINN:  Are you able to provide that, the summary of those discussions?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  This is the answer.  The answer is:  We have a pretty elaborate answer of what Enbridge's view of an exchange would be, which is the first part of the answer, and then we added in our view of an exchange after that, but Enbridge's response basically is contained in the front part of that answer.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I've heard you say TransCanada was not part of those discussions at all.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  So my question is -- and I think I know the answer, but I'm going to make sure the record is correct -- Union did not, then, request a new capacity to open season bid from TransCanada to provide the CDA service.


MR. SHORT:  No.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Is there a reason why you wouldn't do that, Mr. Shorts?


MR. SHORTS:  Well, we spoke about how the original one in 2012 was not contemplated Parkway to CDA, and post that, we had already had a project that was better economically, as well as the other reasons that we've stated.


It was a better project and a better alternative for our customers, so there was no need to go back and make a long-term commitment to TransCanada to a solution that was worse off for our customers than what our own build solution was.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In fact, reading the settlement we were actually negotiating a transition towards the new pipe and the new service.


Our focus was really, how do you transition from the current system to the new system.


MR. QUINN:  And the new system has evolutions that we maybe didn't expect ten years ago.  And so at this juncture we're trying to say what alternatives were considered, and I posed the question to you, Mr. Isherwood, about if you've put gas in at both Hamilton gate and Parkway, into the amended -- or, sorry, into the Union CDA system as it would be constituted after this pipeline, you told me that you're not sure what TransCanada's capabilities would be to serve --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think my answer was I don't care, because I am delivering gas the same at Parkway, and I'm assuming they can give me gas at Bronte and Burlington, and if they want to deliver it through Hamilton and through Niagara, they run the integrated system the best way they can.


MR. QUINN:  Well, that's -- I think we have agreement on that point.  Maybe just for the record, can you define that integrated system the way TransCanada runs their system and how that would be evaluated by TransCanada?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  TransCanada, it's a term they frequently use, and it is a very complex system, obviously, with lots of receipt points, delivery points, and they get lots of requests from all customers to take gas from a different delivery point to different receipt point, and they look at the entire broad-based system with all the flexibility of their own system, as well as the contracts they get on other third parties, like Union or Great Lakes or -- TQM, sorry, I'm thinking of the acronym for Quebec, but TQM.

So it's a complex system, and TCPL takes all the nominations for every day, receipt and delivery points, and they look at the entire system and find the best way to provide service to all their customers.

MR. QUINN:  All right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So in this case there is -- obviously there are three or four places they can get gas into the system, and they will do the best -- they will operate the most efficient way they can in any given day.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I know you've said this a few times.  You had no reason to go back and ask because -- well, I don't want to put words in your mouth, so help me understand.  You said you had no reason to go back and ask.  Why is that you didn't have a reason to go back and ask if they could provide a service through their integrated system?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Because the determination that we had at Union was our project is a better way to go for our ratepayers, both economically, as well as providing other benefits, which I talked about in my opening statement.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, what I thought I heard -- and we'll have to check the record later on -- that you said something about, it was already approved in the settlement agreement.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was already discussed and agreed to in the settlement agreements.

MR. QUINN:  And so that's why -- one of the reasons why you had no reason to go back and ask them --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, you know, even -- even before the settlement agreement got agreed to and signed off on, I think the 2013 open season for 2015 service was in July of that summer, and again we had no reason to go into that open season.  We had a project that was the best project for our ratepayers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But you'd agree with me that the OEB did not approve the Burlington Oakville project as a result of the settlement agreement.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'd agree with that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the approval that was made, it was for the settlement agreement.  Would the NEB have assessed the economics of your alternatives versus other alternatives?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  NEB does not approve our projects either.

MR. QUINN:  So there was no real assessment in the Mainline settlement agreement to figure out which would be the better alternative?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The assessment is taking place in this hearing.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But what we have is a dearth of information from TransCanada about their system's capability to provide a comparable service.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, we had assumed they can provide a comparable service at tolls.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so the tolls that you have -- there's been an evolution, and again I'm going to have to go back and check the record and make sure I have got this accurate, but my understanding was before the service wasn't available.  Now I'm hearing it could be available.  It wasn't available as existing, but there was no request for a new service.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So as Mr. Shorts clarified in his opening statement this morning, it has not ever been available as existing capacity in their existing capacity open seasons.  It first became available in terms of new capacity in July of 2013.  And as a result, the settlement is -- encourages TCPL to build, so it is of no surprise to us that TCPL can provide the capacity post the settlement.  The settlement was all about getting capacity built in the short-haul.

MR. QUINN:  And so we're talking about specifically a Parkway to CDA service.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's all we're talking about today.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I know that's what you're talking about, but I have a request, I guess, then.  So that there is a full assessment, in our view, of all alternatives, would Union undertake to make a written request to TransCanada to ask for their assessment of that possibility and what their evaluation of the cost would be and for Union to file its request and Union's -- or to TransCanada's response?

MR. KEIZER:  No, we're not going to provide that undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the evidence on the record, I think, from what I heard this morning was that the settlement agreement was established.  Part of that was the understanding of what the settlement tolls were, and that the understanding was with respect to -- and I think Mr. Shorts has indicated and Mr. Isherwood has indicated that based upon the understanding of the settlement tolls that the project in this proceeding was considered to be more economic than was making a further request to TransCanada.

There was a request, you know, in discussions with TransCanada arising out of the interrogatory process, and it was clear from the settlement agreement that TransCanada would have the ability to build or do otherwise, and the assumptions in this proceeding includes TransCanada's service, which, based upon those settlement tolls -- so I'm -- you know, it's -- whether or not you ask TransCanada or not in my view is irrelevant if the evidence before you already contemplates a TransCanada option.

MR. QUINN:  And some of those assumptions, Mr. Keizer, included this was Mr. Hockin's economic analysis of the rate impact for Union ratepayers, which may or may not have fully taken into account the TransCanada reduced toll that would be -- would factor in as a benefit to Ontario ratepayers?

MR. KEIZER:  I'm not sure what the reduced toll you're talking about.

MR. QUINN:  If there was a -- okay, now I'll ask the question, Mr. Isherwood -- or whoever on the panel, if Union were to get an integrated service from TransCanada and avoid building this facility, TransCanada would get additional revenues through its tolls; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They would not.

MR. QUINN:  How would they not get...

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have a choice of paying them $8 million on Burlington Oakville or paying $8 million a year on the Kirkwall to the amended CDA.  They won't get both.  They have $8 million one of two ways:  we build, they get 8 million; they don't build, they get 8 million.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I think, Mr. Isherwood, though, you are constraining your alternatives to ones that you've proposed or assessed.  If TransCanada were to provide that 100 percent of that service to Union, all of the 200 -- I won't get the specific number correct, so I'll avoid doing it -- 200 -- around 200 TJs that this provides, would that not have an increased revenue for TransCanada and ultimately a reduced toll for Ontario ratepayers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And gain, if we contracted the service to TransCanada --


MR. QUINN:  The service being all of the 200 TJs?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.  I'll talk about the current capacity we have on TCPL today.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  The question I'm asking is all the 200 TJs.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right, I'm building up to that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So today we have three contracts on TransCanada to provide short-haul services.  That results in about an $8 million a year commitment to TransCanada, and to your point, that would grow as -- that number would grow as time went on through growth and also by substituting the secondary market exchange with TCPL capacity.

But looking at today's capacity on TransCanada, their loss revenue would be $8 million if we built.  But we have substituted $8 million worth of contracts from Kirkwall into the amended CDA, so they are kept unharmed.

MR. QUINN:  Well, they are kept unharmed, but ratepayers are paying you or they're paying them, so you might say it's a wash, but ultimately what we're looking for is the most effective economic solution.  So you went through an analysis of -- and I appreciate you can do this better than I can -- the 60,000 TJs would be something that TransCanada could then provide.  They could build that over time.  You would get the -- what was defined earlier as about 40 percent of that.  I don't have the note, but this morning you said that 40 percent of the existing load is from secondary markets, so TransCanada could provide that also, potentially?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I lost the 40 percent number.  40 percent is what is -- how much --


MR. QUINN:  The secondary market is providing.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Oh, okay, that's a different 40 percent.

MR. QUINN:  Yeah.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I was thinking Mr. Wolnik's 40 percent.

MR. QUINN:  Yeah, no, sorry.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Too many 40 percents.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  The 40 percent that was discussed this morning as how 25 percent was by Union, 75 percent was contracted, 40 percent of the secondary market, and 35 to TransCanada.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  So if TransCanada provided all of that service, would you agree with me that that would have a positive revenue for TransCanada and highly commensurate reduction at some point for ratepayers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But I think we had the same discussion, or I'm going to say the same debate, more so Mr. Wolnik during the Parkway hearings, but Union's decision, although always conscious of what's happening on the TCPL system in terms of rates and impacts, our obligation is to our ratepayers as well, and this project as envisioned by Union as filed here is a best case for our ratepayers.

MR. QUINN:  Well, would you agree with me that the Board ultimately decides what is the best interests of the ratepayers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.  And --


MR. QUINN:  And they would have a whole --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our proposal is this case --


MR. QUINN:  Would the Board -- should the Board take into account the impact on TransCanada?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think they should be aware of that, but as we had the discussion on the Parkway projects, there is significant shift in terms of rates and revenues to TCPL by going from long-haul to short-haul.  It is in the best interest to go from long-haul to short-haul, in terms of accessing Marcellus gas, that type of thing.  And there is benefits here to shifting from a TCPL service to a Union Gas pipe.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I'm going to try it this way:  Would you undertake to provide that economic analysis that Union came up with?  The Mainline settlement agreement they negotiated on behalf of ratepayers, what the Mainline settlement would do in terms of impacting TransCanada tolls?  Would you do that economic assessment as to what the impact is for ratepayers for the TransCanada portion of if they provided the total of the 75 percent that's currently contracted if all was provided through TransCanada?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe the -- I believe the under -- sorry, I believe the interrogatory that Mr. Hockin was discussing with Mr. Wolnik this morning is that case:  What's the impact of the 40 percent going back towards TCPL.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, if that is going to be included in that interrogatory, and we get sufficient response, Mr. Isherwood, I'm satisfied with that, and I'll move on to the next point.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We are not changing the interrogatory, I don't think.

MR. QUINN:  No, sorry, the undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  There was no undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  I thought he was going to go back and check his...

MR. KEIZER:  I think he was checking one number, I think, the 156.

MR. HOCKIN:  The undertaking request paraphrased in my notes is essentially to determine whether or not 40 percent of option 1 comes to X dollars and compare X dollars to the number that is shown in the interrogatory, which was roughly $48 million.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, that --


MR. HOCKIN:  And explain the difference, and I am now aware of that, and I can explain that orally if you want, or we do that written manner.


MR. QUINN:  I want to make sure it's accurate, so maybe you can just provide it in writing, if that's sufficient, because whatever assumptions you made, then you have an opportunity to categorize, so I think that -- I don't want to cross into what Mr. Wolnik was doing.


So I'll leave it at that, Mr. Isherwood, if that is going to be the way to assess it best, because I'm going to move to a different area that Union does do economic contracting analysis for, and I'm looking at Mr. Shorts, but for whomever wants to answer the question, could you describe briefly what the annual incremental contract -- incremental transport contracting analysis is?

MR. SHORTS:  The annual incremental, so when Union is required to go out and look for -- when we do an analysis based upon each year our gas supply plan, so we analyze how much our needs change from year to year.  We will then look at how much capacity or incremental gas may be required to satisfy that gas plan from one year to the next.

We will then evaluate various alternatives using posted tolls on the various pipelines, and we will take a gas forecast, a gas pricing forecast, link it up with those approved tolls, and do an analysis as to what the alternatives look like as options.  We could buy Dawn delivered service or any number of potential services.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  We do those every year, and we have been filing those with the -- in the deferral hearings every year.

MR. QUINN:  So the 2014 filing -- I'm not going to bring up the EBO number -- you have done that contracting analysis and it's been filed as part of your deferral account disposition proceeding?

MR. SHORTS:  We filed that.  Yes, we filed the incremental contracting analysis in that hearing.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, it is on the record, and we can draw on it later on.

I guess my simple question is here:  If I look at that chart -- and maybe I should have had it on the record here, but we'll get it for a subsequent date -- the Niagara to Union ECDA, was that assessed as one of the alternatives?  In the context of this proceeding --


MR. SHORTS:  Which chart?

MR. QUINN:  I'm going to say, when -- the incremental contract analysis that you do annually, was Niagara to Union ECDA -- or Union CDA at least initially, was that assessed as one of the alternatives?

MR. SHORTS:  I can't recall which one.  We tend to do as many alternatives as we hold within the portfolio to show comparisons to the existing capacities we hold, as well as incremental potential solutions, so it could have been in the '14 one we just filed.  I'm just not sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Would you take it subject to check that you did a Niagara to Kirkwall assessment as part of that analysis?

I'm assuming you have -- maybe I should ask the question.  Who provides that analysis?  Who does that -- under which one of you does that analysis occur?  Is that you, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  Well, my group, when -- we already have a Niagara to Kirkwall contract, so we would continue to show that as a comparator, because we actually contract on that path.

MR. QUINN:  All right.  And so you would know that it is one of the more economic paths that you have available to you at this time?

MR. SHORTS:  It changes from year to year, but it can be, yes.

MR. QUINN:  In your 2014 analysis would you take it subject to check depending on --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I don't -- no.  If you've got the information, then you should put it in front of the witness and --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  -- let the witness have a look at it.

MR. QUINN:  Could Mr. Gagne pull up that --


MR. KEIZER:  If I -- not hooked up to the Internet, and so -- well, first of all, I don't understand what the relevance of this is.

MR. QUINN:  The relevance --


MR. KEIZER:  We are talking about another deferral account proceeding and some other assessment, if it's -- and so if the information isn't available to be able to put to the witness here for purposes of clarifying an interrogatory or evidence in this proceeding -- it's not supposed to be cross-examination, it's supposed to be clarifying the evidence that's currently before you in this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I think, with due respect, Mr. Keizer, our challenge is, we don't see all the evidence we'd like to see, so we are trying to understand the assessments that go on.  This is an annual assessment -- am I correct, Mr. Shorts, it is an annual assessment undertaken by your staff to look at the best contracting paths to serve your customers' needs?

MR. SHORTS:  It would be a contracting path.  It's a 

-- we undertake it each year, and it is really there to help us to find whether or not we would contract for incremental capacity or whether or not we would continue to find another solution, for example buying at Dawn, delivered service, et cetera, but it would be -- it wouldn't necessarily always happen every year.  If there was no call for it, we wouldn't actually have to -- if we weren't going out and contracting for any incremental capacity -- and we are not talking about incremental capacity here, we're talking about existing.

I mean, we've got gas supply that's being delivered to Parkway, and we are really talking about getting it from Parkway to the CDA.

It is not an incremental need, so we wouldn't actually contract or do an analysis on -- it is not an incremental supply need.  We already have that supply landing on the system.  We are just moving that supply from -- we just need to move that supply from Parkway to the Union CDA.  We are not contracting for incremental supply, new supply coming in.

MR. QUINN:  But you are increasing the Dawn-Parkway corridor to provide the growth needs of your franchise and other customers' ex-franchise; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  We have a 2016 Dawn to Parkway application for growth.

MR. QUINN:  And that's in approval process.  I'm not sure if it's approved.  And there has been a 2017 open season; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Another thing to consider here, I guess, is -- then the settlement covers this off as well, but the path from Niagara to Parkway is limited to 200 a day.  That's what TCPL could do at an economic threshold.  Any volumes above 200 would need to go to Kirkwall and Kirkwall to Parkway, so Enbridge has taken the 200.  That's basically a full line at this point in time.  Any future growth would have to go back to Kirkwall and through Parkway.

MR. QUINN:  Well, Mr. Isherwood, you yourself said TransCanada runs an integrated system.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They do.

MR. QUINN:  So they have the capability to get the gas to Enbridge, and it could go -- well, I'm going to ask the question:  Could TransCanada choose to deliver it Niagara to Kirkwall to Parkway to get to Enbridge?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They could.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But that's not the plan.  The plan is --


MR. QUINN:  I know that's not the plan, sir.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- to go through the domestic line.

MR. QUINN:  I know that that's the plan as it currently is, because nobody has asked them if they could provide a service to Union.

We've asked a number of different ways if you would undertake to ask them and get that answer, because if you got that answer and TransCanada said, no, there is no way our system can deliver it, then some of us -- I'll speak for myself -- we would be more comforted that this is the best economic plan --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mr. Shorts is -- you're now talking about what supply goes to Parkway, and Niagara is an option, Dawn is an option, and all other points are an option, but the question is once you get to Parkway how is it best to get to the market?  And that's where our application is coming to.

MR. QUINN:  But your presumption, sir, is that it has to go to Parkway, and this morning I heard that you were assessing alternatives of starting at Dawn, starting at Parkway, starting at Kirkwall.  I didn't hear Niagara, so let me ask you the question:  Can you provide an economic analysis that would demonstrate that Niagara is not a path that could provide you the service?  You yourself have said TransCanada's existing system could do this, and we're asking you to ask TransCanada if they can do it, but we haven't got it, but you do an economic analysis toward, could a Niagara to Union, specifically ECDA, just to constitute Burlington, Bronte delivery points, what that economic analysis would generate in terms of what the cost would be relative to your other economic considerations that Mr. Hockin has done so far.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And again, you are looking at a supply point, Niagara being a supply point.

MR. QUINN:  Right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And that supply point would have to go through Kirkwall and have to go through Parkway.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, again, that's --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's how it has to go.  The 200 -- that other line is 200 a day, and it's full, and unless Enbridge chooses not to use it that day, it's full.

MR. QUINN:  I know.  And we've just had that discussion wherein you agreed with me that gas could go to Enbridge through Kirkwall to Parkway, so to the extent that TransCanada has to get the gas, 200 TJs to Enbridge, it could flow a different path than through the Burlington area.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Why do you say that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Enbridge has contracted this path very specifically.  They want to have their gas arrive, and as part of that exchange response to OGVG number 10, they want that gas to flow from Niagara to their Parkway point.

MR. QUINN:  Which is the Enbridge takeoff that's listed here on the OGVG 1.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  TCPL is tying in directly to the Enbridge system.  They do not want to come through Union Gas's system, they want to diversify their input into their franchise area, which I fully understand, fully support, so that gas will not go through Kirkwall to Union.

MR. QUINN:  They want firm deliveries, and they want diversification.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Exactly.

MR. QUINN:  And that can be achieved in many ways, would you agree?

MR. KEIZER:  No, but we are not going to go down this road.  The witness has already indicated to you that -- what Enbridge and TransCanada has decided to do.  We can sit here and think about all the various different machinations that could ever arise, but we have to deal with the facts, and the facts are, as this witness has stated, that's what Enbridge and TransCanada has accepted, and so as a result, creating scenarios for something which may or may not happen depending upon notional flows of gas or physical flows of gas, just because, is not on.


So we are not going to provide that undertaking, and we're not going to do the calculation, and I think the witness has answered the question.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, I know that the witness has answered the question, but I'm trying to find a way that is amenable to assist the Board, because in this case here the Board does need to take into account what the economic interests of the customers are, and that includes TransCanada as a potential service provider.  But we're precluded from looking at that.

MR. KEIZER:  And the evidence before you is that it has been contemplated as a potential service provider.  The tolls that TransCanada charges is in there as a potential service provider, and so it is assumed that TransCanada will provide it, come hell or high water.  They could do something.  That's what the assumption is, and so those rates are in there, and the economic analysis reflects it.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, that's through Parkway, and I'm asking for a different path, so I'm asking Niagara to Union ECDA, and that is not --


MR. KEIZER:  And the answer is that that's not physically possible.

MR. QUINN:  No, no, this is -- Mr. Isherwood believes that it's not, but we don't have TransCanada's answer in that area.

MR. KEIZER:  You have to accept the answer, because that's the answer, so I think we should move on.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, all due respect, we will have to seek an answer, because the -- we're trying to assist the Board in making sure these alternatives are considered.

So trying to move on, Mr. Shorts, maybe -- well, by way of undertaking, to the extent that Union will do it, since it's not in this proceeding, could you review the incremental transport contract analysis -- I didn't have it in front of you -- and provide to us -- to -- as a request, why Niagara to Union CDA was not -- why Union did not enter the open season in 2017 based upon its incremental contracting analysis?

MR. KEIZER:  And I believe that that answer was also on the record, because the witness indicated that they are not looking at incremental supply, they're looking at existing supply and the alternative delivery with respect to that supply.  And there was also comments with respect to Mr. Isherwood with respect to Niagara and the issues related to that.

So in my view, the answer is on the record and we're not providing the undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, well, I'm going to differentiate that in a moment, and I have your answer.

So the incremental contracting analysis, is that the process you would undertake to look at incremental supply?

MR. SHORTS:  If we are looking at incremental supply, we will do an incremental contracting analysis, and it may result in us contracting in a basin and getting transportation, or it may just result in us to contract for delivered service at Dawn.  It's about getting the gas to Dawn and then moving it from that point forward.

MR. QUINN:  In this case sir, though, we are trying to get it to the eastern end of your franchise.  Would you agree with me?

MR. SHORTS:  We already have the supply that is showing up -- we have enough supply showing up at Parkway.  We just don't have the capability to get it from Parkway to the ECDA.

MR. QUINN:  That again presumes it has to go Dawn to Parkway; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  We are assuming we have current supply that is already landing within our system and which also includes the Niagara to Kirkwall capacity we currently have contracted for.

All that supply is currently landing in our system, and our incremental contracting analysis is really about where that gas originates from.  Does it originate from the mid-continent, does it originate from the gulf, does it originate from western Canada, does it originate from Marcellus?  And what's the best option to get that gas to Dawn?  That's what our incremental contracting analysis does.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So let's put that in context.  If we were getting it from Niagara, you would be moving gas from notionally Marcellus to Utica, correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, what was that?

MR. QUINN:  If you were -- if you were purchasing at Niagara, you would be accessing -- you said it depends on the basin, so in this case you will be getting Marcellus-Utica basin gas at Niagara --


MR. SHORTS:  Currently we buy gas at Niagara.  How it gets there we do not -- we buy on the Canadian side of the border, so we don't know if it's actually that gas or not.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, I thought you said that it depends on the basin you are trying to go to.

MR. SHORTS:  I'm just talking about the capacity we have today.  We have TCPL Niagara to Kirkwall capacity --


MR. QUINN:  Of 20,000 GJs; is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yeah, about that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you take that number subject to check, or do you want to check -- do you want to take an undertaking?

MR. SHORTS:  No, that's fine.  It's in the 20,000 range, yeah.

MR. QUINN:  21,000.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. SHORTS:  And we currently buy that gas at Niagara for delivery on that transportation contract.  Each and every day for Union south.

MR. QUINN:  So that would be notionally about 10 percent of the market area for Burlington Oakville?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, that -- from our perspective, that goes to -- that's a -- in the new -- that would be the amended Union CDA, so when you look at the 135, the 135 that we've contracted for, plus the 21, gets us to the need in the amended Union CDA.

MR. QUINN:  So you are actually buying gas in Niagara to -- if I remember the record from before, this is to go to Kirkwall Dominion and Hamilton gate 3?

MR. SHORTS:  That volume would flow in that direction.  It would flow -- that 21 flows on the TransCanada contract from Niagara to Kirkwall.

MR. QUINN:  So you are putting in 21,000 at Niagara and 135 from Kirkwall to meet the market need at Kirkwall and Hamilton gate 3?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  On a peak day; that's right.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So two ends of the pipe, gas flowing in both directions, if Union is already accessing Niagara but only for the Hamilton area, not for the Burlington Bronte area; is that a simple summary?

MR. SHORTS:  We are accessing Niagara for the entire Union south portfolio.  We are not saying -- that supply doesn't get streamed from a cost perspective to those cost customers.  It gets into -- it just for all of Union south's sales service customers.

MR. QUINN:  I understand it doesn't get streamed, but the domestic market it's serving is Hamilton, not Burlington.  I think that's what you just said?

MR. KEIZER:  No, he said it would serve the south area.  It doesn't -- he didn't say Hamilton in his answer, as I heard it.

MR. SHORTS:  Again, the gas is going to flow where the gas is going to flow.  I don't know --


MR. QUINN:  Actually, Mr. Isherwood did say that 135 goes in at Kirkwall and 21 goes in at Niagara to feed Kirkwall and Hamilton.  What am I saying that is different from what you're saying?

MR. KEIZER:  He said those were the delivery points.  He didn't say that it was serving only those -- the Hamilton area, which is what you said.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Niagara supply is, to Mr. Shorts' point, served all of Union south.  It is a generic melting pot of supply to Dawn.  All those costs get shared amongst all Union south.  The gas physically flows, the 21 flows from Niagara to Kirkwall, and from Kirkwall we take it back to Dawn in summertime and to the market in the wintertime.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, would you agree with me that the amount of flow capability -- or, sorry, amount of gas available at Niagara and Chippewa is increasing?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  And I'm not sure, I can't remember who may have been at the TransCanada annual meeting, but would you agree with me that TransCanada has publicly stated that they would have close to 1 BCF by 2017?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't disagree with that.

MR. QUINN:  You wouldn't disagree?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Would not disagree with that.

MR. KEIZER:  First of all, I don't see how this is relevant, talking about what TransCanada has or doesn't have.  We're here talking about the Burlington Oakville project, and it's not clear to me why you're now talking about Chippewa and Niagara and Marcellus gas, so --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Isherwood said earlier that short-haul would be preferable to long-haul.  To me this is one of the shortest-haul routes you may have.

I'm just getting confirmation that this is a growing supply point.  I think it's known in the industry, Mr. Shorts -- that you seem to be nodding as Mr. Isherwood said.

Would you agree that Niagara is being assessed by market participants as a growing supply point?

MR. KEIZER:  I'm just going to object, because I don't think it's relevant.  Unless you can show to me that it's relevant, we're not answering the question.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then let's try it this way.  You said incremental supply, you would look at it if you were undertaking incremental supply, if you need additional supply for your franchise?

MR. SHORTS:  And if it was an available path we would certainly evaluate it.

MR. QUINN:  And you would find out if it's an available path if you -- when it's an open season, and determine if you could get the capacity?

MR. SHORTS:  If there was a required open season or whether or not it was capacity that was available just through the market.  I mean, right now we have other options on other pipes, and, I mean, one of the things that we necessarily don't always look at is we are not going to look at price all the time.  It is not going to be the lowest price.

When we evaluate the supply we have a number of principles, of which price is one of them, but we need gas coming in.  We need diversity of supply.  It is really all around diversity of supply.

MR. QUINN:  So there is a rigour around the choices you make in terms of incremental supply.

MR. SHORTS:  Correct, and we file that every year in our incremental contract --


MR. QUINN:  And that's where we started with at the outset.  So I'm going to maybe have the rubber hit the road.  You have got new supply need that is being contracted for in the upcoming years; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, it's not Niagara at this point; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  We have not -- we don't have any new Niagara contracts on the -- in -- for '14, for example, no.

MR. QUINN:  But you've signed a precedent agreement for the Nexus pipeline.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just wait a sec.  What has this got to do -- and what does the incremental supply coming from whatever basin have to do with the Burlington Oakville pipeline?

MR. QUINN:  Because it is an industry-understood phenomenon that short-haul is better than long-haul, that Niagara has excess gas and -- I'm trying to understand why Union wouldn't look at this as an alternative.  If it thinks it needs Marcellus gas and it's done so by getting Nexus as a supply pipe, I would like to understand how Nexus is the preferable point or the preferable pipeline to contract with than TransCanada Niagara.


MR. KEIZER:  That has nothing to do with this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  It has absolute -- sir, in this case here you've got 50 kilometres of distance, maybe 60 kilometres of distance, whatever that actual number is from Niagara to this area you're feeding.  Flows are changing.  TransCanada is reversing its pipe to allow this to happen, but instead, Union is contracting for 150,000, seven and a half times, seven times what it takes out of Niagara to have the gas go around the horn, under Lake Erie, back through Dawn, to use more Dawn-Parkway facilities, which are already being stressed because of incremental builds that are needed --


MR. KEIZER:  If you can show me -- I have no understanding of why this relates to this particular build of spending $119 million to build a pipeline from along 9th Line in Milton and Oakville.

MR. QUINN:  Because we believe the Board would want Union to assess the best economic alternative in considering supply constraints, considering diversity of supply.  Union has already undertook and is on the public record that has signed a precedent agreement.  We are asking that you provide that analysis, and I would hope that we would see that Niagara was considered as an alternate point and the economics would suggest that the Nexus pipeline was preferable than landing the gas --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think the witness has already indicated that the incremental supply consideration is about supply.  The issue here is -- and I think the witness has indicated -- that they have supply.  So in my view your assertions are not relevant, so I'm not having him answer the question.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, they're contracting on Nexus because they need incremental supply.

MR. KEIZER:  I'm not having him answer the question related to Nexus.  If you can show how this has anything to do with building a pipeline between -- along 9th Line between north Milton to Oakville, but I don't see it, and I don't believe it's relevant.

MR. QUINN:  Well, we have been constrained to the alternative that Union believes based upon its analysis that it is most economic.  I'm saying, show us.  And so if you --


MR. KEIZER:  Showed it based on existing tolls.  I'm not getting into debate on this one.  Either ask your questions --


MR. QUINN:  I think we're too late on that, but...

MR. KEIZER:  Well, that's fine, and I think, you know, I've made our position clear, so ask your questions and we'll assess whether we answer them.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, would Union undertake to provide an economic -- the -- an economic analysis that it undertook to choose the Nexus pipeline, and if it hasn't -- if that economic analysis doesn't show Niagara, to add a Niagara alternative, and to provide that to this proceeding as a demonstration that these supply points and the consideration supply points were taken into account to manage its future growth?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Okay.  So economics.  I'm not sure how much relevance -- if we can't get that information, I'm not sure how we're going to get the economics, but I'm just going to touch on a couple of points of economics and possibly be done.

Mr. Hockin, you spent some time with Mr. Wolnik, and I'm not going to go over all of that, but a couple of things stood out for me, and -- that's argumentative.  I won't use that.

Mr. Wolnik was trying to differentiate at the margin, so as an economic -- I have great regard for your economic capability, Mr. Hockin.  Economists look at differential projects at the margin, incremental projects at the margin; would that be a fair statement?

MR. HOCKIN:  We use a discount cash-flow analysis which is based upon incremental costs and incremental revenues, if that's more helpful to you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And -- but that -- and I used the expression "at the margin".  What would your words be to describe what I'm saying?

MR. HOCKIN:  I don't know.  I'm doing not a -- I'm doing a discount cash-flow for the project, which is the cash in and out of the company associated with building the project and the cash in and out of the company associated with buying a service from a third party, and comparing the two.  That's the financial analysis that we have within the project area.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, well, I'm not going to even -- at the risk of getting into more argument, I'm going to take Mr. Keizer's advice, and I'll ask my question for your consideration and then get a clarification.

So would you undertake to do an economic analysis with -- using Union -- Niagara to Union ECDA using the tariffs -- oh, sorry, I stepped over a point.

We talked before this morning about tariffs that would be in place.  Would you take it subject to check that there is a Union -- a Niagara to Union ECDA tariff that is currently in place?  There is a toll for that number?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Sorry, yeah, I should have said "toll", so there is a toll, there is a number that could be used to look -- to assess Niagara to Union ECDA.

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So using that number, Mr. Hockin, could you do an evaluation of the economic impact to Ontario customers if Union were able to, and notwithstanding Mr. Isherwood doesn't believe it's physically possible, when -- with Union using Niagara to serve 200 TJs to the Milton area, and including in that, reducing the annual revenue requirement associated with 200 TJs of Dawn to Parkway build that is currently scheduled for 2017?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I believe those are my questions at this time, Mr. Millar.  I don't know -- I know that there is no procedural order beyond this point.  If you have anything you can do to be of assistance with us, in terms of helping us with the road ahead, that would be helpful, but if at this time it's just in the Board's hands, then we'll take it from there.

MR. MILLAR:  It is in the Board's hands, and I don't have anything to share with you, unfortunately, at this time, not because I'm withholding anything, because I don't know.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just thought I'd check.

MR. MILLAR:  Are there any final matters for the technical conference?

Okay, thank you very much to the witnesses and the court reporter and the parties.  We are adjourned.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:29 p.m.
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